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Whiteness as Ideology 

Gregory S. Parks† 

“I could stand in the middle of Fifth Avenue and shoot somebody, 
and I wouldn’t lose any voters, okay.” 

—Donald Trump1 

“I want you so bad I’ll go back on the things I believe.” 

—John Mayer2 

“You can’t be pro-insurrection and pro-cop. You can’t be pro-
insurrection and pro-democracy. You can’t be pro-insurrection 
and pro-American.” 

—Joe Biden3 
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Introduction 

In 1993, Cheryl Harris published her pathbreaking article 
“Whiteness as Property” in the Harvard Law Review.4  In it, she 
explored the interrelations between whiteness, a socially constructed 
form of racial identity, and property. As highlighted in her abstract: 

Following the period of slavery and conquest, whiteness became 
the basis of racialized privilege—a type of status in which white 
racial identity provided the basis for allocating societal benefits 
both private and public in character. These arrangements were 
ratified and legitimated in law as a type of status property. Even 
as legal segregation was overturned, whiteness as property 
continued to serve as a barrier to effective change as the system 
of racial classification operated to protect entrenched power.5 

 
4. See Cheryl I. Harris, Whiteness as Property, 106 Harv. L. Rev. 1707 

(1993). 

5. Id. at 1709.  
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Three years after Harris’s publication, Ian Haney López offered 
additional nuance and texture to the idea that race is a social construct. 
Such construction refers to the “historically contingent social systems 
of meaning that attach to elements of morphology and ancestry” and is 
comprised of “three interrelated levels[:] the physical, the social, and 
the material.”6 Physically, “skin color, ethnic origin, and other physical 
features become markers of race . . . ‘because society has invested 
[them] with racial meanings.’”7 Socially, “because the meanings given 
to certain features and ancestries denote race, it is the social processes 
of ascribing racialized meanings to faces and forbearers that lie at the 
heart of racial fabrication.”8 Materially, “racial meanings . . . ‘gain 
force as they are reproduced in the material conditions of society’ 
through ‘[t]he distribution of wealth and poverty’”9 and power.10 It is 
this material meaning that depends on “actors who have accepted ideas 
of race.”11 In short, skin color, in and of “itself, does not mean that [an] 
individual belongs to a particular race. Rather, it is society, not biology, 
which gives meaning to that skin color . . . [;] that meaning is then 
ascribed to a racial identity.”12 In turn, that racial identity manifests 
and perpetuates itself through various economic, legal, and other 
institutions to allocate power and resources to some—and not other—
“racial” groups. In the United States, some whites use race as a social 
construct to support a racial hierarchy or caste system.13 

Political ideology reflects the interrelated attitudes and values that 
people have about society’s proper goals and how to achieve them. It 
influences people’s beliefs, emotions, thoughts, and actions. The 
conservative-to-liberal spectrum provides a continuum along which one 
can assess these components. It is a “yardstick” by which one can 
 
6. Ian Haney López, White by Law: The Legal Construction of 

Race 10 (10th ann. ed. 2006). 

7. Romtin Parvaresh, Prayer for Relief: Anti-Muslim Discrimination as 
Racial Discrimination, 87 S. Cal. L. Rev. 1287, 1298 (2014) (quoting 
Ian Haney López, White by Law: The Legal Construction of 

Race 14 (1996)). 

8. Id. 

9. Id.  

10. Nancy B. Collins & Andrea Hall, Nuclear Waste in Indian Country: 
A Paradoxical Trade, 12 Law & Ineq. 267, 311–12, 312 n.286, 314 (1994); 
see Carrie L. Rosenbaum, Crimmigration: Structural Tools of Settler 
Colonialism, 16 Ohio State J. Crim. L. 9, 47 (2018). 

11. López, supra note 6, at 10. 

12. Parvaresh, supra note 7, at 1298. 

13. Isabel Wilkerson, Caste: The Origins of Our Discontents 
327–28, 382 (2020) (showing how caste is rigid but membership in 
dominant and subordinate groups “shape shifts” as needed to uphold caste 
hierarchy); Ibram X. Kendi, How to Be an Antiracist 39–41 (2019) 
(describing the historical development of race as a social construct). 



Case Western Reserve Law Review·Volume 73·Issue 3·2023 

Whiteness as Ideology 

616 

identify parties, political leaders, laws, and policy.14 Political ideology 
is predictive of the extent to which individuals are discriminating or 
inclusive,15 status quo or change oriented,16 past or future oriented,17 
and obedient or challenging of authority.18 In this Article, I argue that 
whiteness is the ideology of a sizable portion of American citizens, 
largely on the political Right, more specifically among President Donald 
Trump’s supporters. For them, whiteness—and the historical power, 
value, and control of resources associated with it—has become all-
consuming, the driving force behind their ideology. It is why the values 
that have traditionally been associated with conservatism have been 
cast aside by those on the political Right in exchange for Trumpism. 
Nothing more clearly highlights this phenomenon than many 
Republicans’ rejection of the rule of law/law and order and support for 
law enforcement in light of the January 6, 2021, insurrection. 

In Part I, I argue first that President Trump spread repeated lies 
that the 2020 presidential election was stolen, despite being aware that 
he had lost. This influenced his supporters to believe that the election 
was a fraud. When Trump was informed that his message could result 
in acts of violence, he persisted in his argument that the election had 
been stolen from him. Second, I argue that Trump sought to obstruct 
Congress’s January 6 joint session. He attempted to pressure Vice 
President Mike Pence into unilaterally selecting him as the next 
President. Additionally, Trump attempted to pressure state legislators 
to reverse the results of the election in their states. He also tried to 
recruit the Department of Justice (DOJ) to aid in overturning the 
election results, which included efforts to install loyalists to do his 
bidding. Third, Trump had a scheme to overturn the election by 
pressuring public officials to state that the vote had been compromised 
by fraud and they should throw out the votes. He directly participated 
in coordinating and furthering the plot to substitute fake electors for 
legitimate Biden electors by casting and submitting votes through fake 
certificates. When public servants and elected officials would not do 
Trump’s bidding, he “worked to ensure they faced the consequences: 
threats to people’s livelihood and lives.”19  
14. Gregory S. Parks & Matthew P. Hooker, Organizational Ideology and 

Institutional Problem-Solving: Hazing Within Black Fraternities, 44 Law 

& Psych. Rev. 91, 137 (2020). 

15. See id. at 150–52. 

16. Id. at 155–57. 

17. Id. at 157–58. 

18. Id. at 158–59. 

19. Philip Bump, The Defense of Democracy Depends on the Power of 
Honorable Individuals, Wash. Post (June 21, 2022, 4:47 PM), 
https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2022/06/21/defense-democracy 
-depends-power-honorable-individuals/ [https://perma.cc/Z9LE-R7QS] 
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Considering these facts, data show that political conservatives have 
more positive views about “law and order,” as a concept, than do 
liberals. Despite conservatives’ staunch support for the rule of law/law 
and order, most—laypeople and elected officials alike—have either kept 
their heads in the proverbial sand, blamed left-leaning groups like 
Antifa and Black Lives Matter (BLM), continued to applaud the so-
called “stop the steal” efforts of January 6, or attacked Republican 
leaders who sought to hold Trump accountable.20  Arguably, what 
explains this paradox is that both “law” and “order” have been 
racialized—the perceived object of them has been, and is still, Black 
and Brown people. 

In Part II, I argue that Trump and members of his senior team 
were well aware of the fact that their efforts on January 6 would likely 
lead to violence. Law enforcement officers testified about their 
experiences responding to the January 6 insurrection. Their narrative 
accounts provide insight into the racism, racist threats, and physical 
violence experienced by officers working at the U.S. Capitol on 
January 6. Another officer also offered insights about the racist threats 
he received after January 6 for shooting and killing a rioter. One officer 
died because of injuries sustained while fending off rioters at the U.S. 
Capitol that day. Two other officers who defended the Capitol that day 
later committed suicide. And members of Vice President Pence’s Secret 
Service on January 6 believed that rioters were going to kill them. 

Considering these facts, data show that political conservatives—
especially Trump supporters—have had more positive views about law 
enforcement than liberals. Despite conservatives’ staunch support for 
law enforcement, they have remained relatively silent about the 
January 6 attacks on law enforcement. 

In Part III, I argue that racism and white supremacy lie at the heart 
of Trumpism. It is evident by how he has aligned with groups like the 
Ku Klux Klan, neo-Nazis, Proud Boys, and white nationalists who 
marched in Charlottesville, Virginia during the 2017 “Unite the Right” 

 
(quoting Here’s Every Word of the Fourth Jan. 6 Committee Hearing on 
Its Investigation, NPR (June 21, 2022, 8:47 PM), https://www.npr.org 
/2022/06/16/1105683634/transcript-jan-6-committee [https://perma.cc/4PT7 
-9VGB] [hereinafter Fourth Jan. 6 Committee Hearing] (transcription of 
statement of Rep. Bennie Thompson)). 

20. See Jared Sharpe, Republicans Blame Democrats, Antifa and U.S. Capital 
Police for Jan. 6 Mayhem, According to New UMass Amherst/WCVA 
Poll, U. Mass. Amherst (Apr. 27, 2021), https://www.umass.edu/news 
/article/republicans-blame-democrats-antifa-and-us [https://perma.cc 
/VV6R-AR5H]; see also Tucker Higgins, GOP Senators Who Voted to 
Convict Trump Are Now Facing Backlash in Their Home States, CNBC 
(Feb. 14, 2022, 4:56 PM), https://www.cnbc.com/2021/02/14/gop-senators 
-who-voted-to-impeach-trump-facing-heat-at-home.html [https://perma.cc 
/K59K-AEW7]. 
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rally.21 These groups are only different in degree and not kind from the 
political Right’s long-standing approach to race—that is, maintaining 
harsher and less tolerant attitudes toward racial minorities than the 
political Left. Even still, Republicans find it difficult to own this fact. 
They engage in psychological gyrations to not look in the proverbial 
mirror and see that Trumpism’s supplanting of republicanism is because 
it more fully reflects the appeal of white supremacy. Hence, whiteness 
has become the central ideology of much of the political Right—
certainly the Make America Great Again (MAGA) movement, which 
consists largely of whites “who have felt a loss of status as other [racial] 
groups have become more empowered,”22 a status that they are willing 
to die and kill for. 

I. The January 6 Insurrection and 

the Myth of the Rule of Law 

In politics, “law and order,” historically known as the War on 
Crime, is the approach that focuses on harsher enforcement and 
penalties as ways to reduce crime.23  Law and order arose as an 
American political concept during the late 1960s. In 1966, California 
gubernatorial candidate Ronald Reagan (Republican),24 and in 1968, 
presidential candidates Richard Nixon (Republican) and George 
Wallace (independent) employed the law and order narrative as part of 
their campaigns.25 Since the 1970s, the term has largely been associated 
with the political Right. That is because political parties maintain a 
relative reputation regarding issues, and candidates have advantages 
 
21. John Haltiwanger, Trump Has Repeatedly Been Endorsed by White 

Supremacist Groups and Other Far-Right Extremists, and They’ve Looked 
to Him as a Source of Encouragement, Bus. Insider (Sept. 30, 2020, 
3:59 PM), https://www.businessinsider.com/trumps-history-of-support-from 
-white-supremacist-far-right-groups-2020-9 [https://perma.cc/E9YB-D6QU]. 

22. Marissa Melton, Is ‘Make America Great Again’ Racist?, Voice of Am. 
(Aug. 31, 2017, 11:04 AM), https://www.voanews.com/a/is-make-america 
-great-racist/4009714.html [https://perma.cc/HH2S-LGZM]; Nicholas 
Goldberg, Trump Has Come Up with the Worst Campaign Slogan Ever, 
L.A. Times (May 14, 2020, 11:41 AM), https://www.latimes.com/opinion 
/story/2020-05-14/trump-transition-to-greatness-worst-slogan [https:// 
perma.cc/2BW2-ZEU7] (“[MAGA] was vague enough to appeal to 
optimists generally, while leaving plenty of room for bitter and resentful 
voters to conclude that we were finally going back to the days when they 
ran the world.”). 

23. See Michael C. Campbell, Politics, Prisons, and Law Enforcement: 
An Examination of the Emergence of “Law and Order” Politics in Texas, 
45 Law & Soc’y Rev. 631, 642, 645 (2011). 

24. Gerald Horne, The Fire this Time: The Watts Uprising and the 

1960s, at 281 (1995). 

25. Michelle Alexander, The New Jim Crow: Mass Incarceration in 

the Age of Colorblindness 46 (rev. ed. 2011). 
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when their party is attributed to the issues that voters are taking into 
consideration on Election Day. While Republicans are associated with 
national defense and law and order, Democrats tend to be associated 
with civil rights and social welfare. Given the political rhetoric of 
Republican candidates for elected office, as one study demonstrated, 
from 1978 onwards, American adults rate Democrats higher on 
education, jobs, social security, the environment, and health care, while 
they rate Republicans higher on law and order, taxes, foreign policy, 
and the deficit.26 Not surprisingly, law and order was adopted in the 
1988 Republican Party platform.27 

In the wake of the 2020 presidential election, Trump took steps to 
undermine the election results. While some of that had occurred even 
prior to Election Day,28 Trump’s—and his surrogates’—efforts were 
most pronounced in the days and weeks after. These efforts culminated 
in Trump’s supporters attacking the U.S. Capitol in an effort to halt 
the certification of the election results. Consequently, the Select 
Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the United States 
Capitol was formed by Congress: 

Whereas January 6, 2021, was one of the darkest days of our 
democracy, during which insurrectionists attempted to impede 
Congress’s Constitutional mandate to validate the presidential 
election and launched an assault on the United States Capitol 
Complex that resulted in multiple deaths, physical harm to over 
140 members of law enforcement, and terror and trauma among 
staff, institutional employees, press, and Members; 

Whereas, on January 27, 2021, the Department of Homeland 
Security issued a National Terrorism Advisory System Bulletin 
that due to the “heightened threat environment across the United 
States,” in which “[S]ome ideologically-motivated violent 
extremists with objections to the exercise of governmental 
authority and the presidential transition, as well as other 
perceived grievances fueled by false narratives, could continue to 
mobilize to incite or commit violence.” . . . 

. . . . 

 
26. Jeremy C. Pope & Jonathan Woon, Measuring Changes in American 

Party Reputations, 1939-2004, 62 Pol. Rsch. Q. 653, 655–57 (2009). 

27. Sharon Casey & Philip Mohr, Law-and-Order Politics, Public-Opinion 
Polls and the Media, 12 Psychiatry, Psych. & L. 141, 142 (2005). 

28. Sam Levine, Trump Admits He Is Undermining USPS to Make It Harder 
to Vote by Mail, The Guardian (Aug. 13, 2020, 12:25 PM), https://www 
.theguardian.com/us-news/2020/aug/13/donald-trump-usps-post-office 
-election-funding [https://perma.cc/6GAL-Q2ZL]. 
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There is hereby established the Select Committee to 
Investigate the January 6th Attack on the United States 
Capitol . . . .29 

The committee convened on June 13, 16, 21, and 23, as well as 
July 21, to highlight the ways in which Trump and his supporters 
sought to undermine the rule of law.30 These findings have been in 
striking contrast to political conservatives’ long-standing belief in law 
and order. Furthermore, and paradoxically, most Republicans have 
been supportive of or agnostic about the January 6 insurrection. 

A. June 13 Hearing 

The June 13 hearing highlighted how Trump spread baseless claims 
that the 2020 presidential election was stolen despite being aware that 
he had lost.31 Trump’s continual pursuit of these claims led citizens to 
believe that the election had been conducted fraudulently.32 When he 
was informed that his message could result in acts of violence, he did 
not stop insisting that the election had been stolen from him.33 Below 
is a recap of what was gleaned from those hearings, including the 
June 21 testimony of Bill Stepien, who was supposed to testify on 
June 13.34 

1. Election Night 

Tuesday evening, former Fox News political editor Chris Stirewalt 
called Arizona for Joe Biden.35 Fox News would be the first major 
network to call the Grand Canyon State. While it was a controversial 
call, the Fox News team had conducted extensive research and gathered 
enough data to be able to call Arizona accurately. They knew that this 
would be a consequential call because Arizona was one of five states 
(along with Georgia, Pennsylvania, Wisconsin, and Michigan) that 
 
29. About: Select Committee to Investigate the Jan. 6th Attack on the U.S. 

Capitol, U.S. House of Representatives, https://january6th.house 
.gov/about [https://perma.cc/HJV8-PRY7]. 

30. See Hearings: Select Committee to Investigate the Jan. 6th Attack on the 
U.S. Capitol, U.S. House of Representatives, https://january6th 
.house.gov/legislation/hearings [https://perma.cc/L9XW-PRJM]. 

31. Here’s Every Word of the Second Jan. 6 Committee Hearing on Its 
Investigation, NPR (June 13, 2022, 6:16 PM), https://www.npr.org 
/2022/06/13/1104690690/heres-every-word-of-the-second-jan-6-committee 
-hearing-on-its-investigation [https://perma.cc/6RJV-XY5X] [hereinafter 
Second Jan. 6 Committee Hearing] (transcription of statement of Rep. 
Bennie Thompson). 

32. Id. (transcription of live testimony of Rep. Elizabeth Cheney). 

33. See id. (transcription of statement of Rep. Zoe Lofgren). 

34. Id. 

35. Id. 
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truly mattered in the election.36 Their team had worked together for an 
extended period and unanimously agreed that Arizona’s votes were 
going in the way they predicted. They saw Trump’s chances of winning 
Arizona decreasing. Stirewalt also concluded that after losing Arizona, 
Trump’s chances of winning the election were small.37 

Back in the White House, what had been an upbeat mood was 
dampened. Jason Miller, senior adviser to the Trump campaign, 
testified that the environment in the White House on election night was 
a “self-select more positive environment,” which is typical of such a 
gathering on election night.38 Miller noted that the entire atmosphere 
shifted after Fox News called Arizona for Biden. Miller explained that 
there was an overall mix of anger directed toward Fox News for calling 
Arizona so early and disappointment that the campaign lost Arizona.39 
He also indicated that this anger and disappointment was also rooted 
in concern that the campaign team’s data might not have been 
accurate.40 Bill Stepien, Trump’s former campaign manager, also noted 
the surprise in the room when Fox News called Arizona for Biden.41 

Stirewalt told the committee that in every election, you expect to 
see a Republican lead initially.42 However, that does not reflect a true 
lead because Democrats prefer to vote by mail or early or absentee 
compared to Republicans. When counting votes, it does not truly 
matter which votes are counted first because the result will end up the 
same.43 It does not matter in theory because no candidate has ever tried 
to claim victory before all votes are counted. However, the Trump 
campaign “made it clear that they were going to try to exploit this 
anomaly” in the vote-counting process.44 They had sown distrust in 
mail-in ballots among his supporters, against the advice of Stepien and 
House Minority Leader Kevin McCarthy, all but guaranteeing that 
there would be a late-night avalanche of Democratic votes in key 
states.45 Therefore, it was imperative for the individuals at Fox News 
 
36. Id. (transcription of live testimony of Chris Stirewalt, former political 

editor, Fox News). 

37. Id. 

38. Id. (transcription of video testimony of Jason Miller, former Senior 
Advisor to the Trump campaign). 

39. Id. 

40. Id. 

41. Id. (transcription of video testimony of Bill Stepien, former White House 
Director of Political Affairs). 

42. Id. (transcription of live testimony of Chris Stirewalt). 

43. Id. 

44. Id. 

45. Id. (transcription of statement of Rep. Zoe Lofgren and video testimony 
of Bill Stepien). 
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to “inform[ ] viewers that this was going to happen.”46 Additionally, the 
number of early and absentee votes increased because of the pandemic, 
so it was known that it would take longer for the votes to be counted 
and that the Republican lead would initially appear larger. The initial 
numbers were less relevant because they only reflected a small portion 
of votes.47 

Back in Washington, Trump advisers were split over whether to 
declare victory. Stepien testified that he remembered that Trump 
attorney Rudy Giuliani wanted to speak with the President.48 Giuliani, 
per Jason Miller’s testimony, wanted Trump to declare victory.49 
Stepien believed that “it was far too early to be making any” such 
declaration.50 Ballots were still being counted, and they would “be 
counted for days.”51 Stepien believed that Trump could tell the nation 
that votes were still being counted and it was too early to call the race. 
He suggested that the President mention his pride in the race that they 
ran and that they felt like they were in a good position.52 Stepien 
testified that Trump disagreed with his suggestion and said he was 
going to take another direction when making a statement.53 As Bennie 
Thompson noted, “Stepien also testified that . . . Trump had no basis 
for declaring victory at that point.”54 He was always honest with the 
President and had indicated that he thought election night was going 
to be a long one, just as it was in 2016.55 

Jason Miller was also a part of the conversation regarding a 
declaration of victory. When asked about the conversation, Miller 
commented that Giuliani appeared to be intoxicated.56 However, he was 
unaware of Giuliani’s level of intoxication. Miller expressed that he also 
felt it was too early to declare victory, since they did not yet have “a 
better sense of the numbers.” Giuliani disagreed and stated that the 
Trump campaign won, and the Biden campaign was attempting to steal 
the election from them.57  The testimony of Miller and Stepien 

 
46. Id. (transcription of live testimony of Chris Stirewalt).  

47. Id. 

48. Id. (transcription of video testimony of Bill Stepien). 

49. Id. (transcription of video testimony of Jason Miller). 

50. Id. (transcription of video testimony of Bill Stepien).  

51. Id. 

52. Id. 

53. Id. 

54. Id. (transcription of statement of Rep. Bennie Thompson). 

55. Id. 

56. Id. (transcription of video testimony of Jason Miller). 

57. Id. 
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demonstrated that the Trump campaign attempted to spread false 
information about the state of the race on election night.58 

2. November 4–January 2 

Attorney General William Barr was not surprised when Trump 
declared victory on election night, nor was he surprised that the 
President made allegations of fraud. However, he noted that these 
claims seemed to occur before there was any actual evidence of fraud.59 
Barr believed that these claims were mostly “based on the dynamic that 
. . . at the end of the evening” there was an influx of Democratic votes 
that Barr said “changed the vote counts in certain states.”60 In the 
weeks after the election, Trump would pressure Barr to investigate the 
alleged fraud and help him overturn the election.61 

Barr explained that on November 23, he went to meet with the 
President since they had not spoken since roughly mid-October.62 
According to Barr, the President expressed that “there had been major 
fraud and that as soon as” his claims had been litigated, the election 
would be overturned.63 Then on November 29, the President publicly 
stated that he thought “the [D]epartment [of Justice] was missing in 
action.”64 Barr responded by making a statement that there had not 
been any “fraud on a scale that could have [altered] a different outcome 
in the election.”65 

On December 4, 2020, U.S. Attorney for the Northern District of 
Georgia Bjay Pak spoke to Barr and had a conversation about an 
unrelated case.66 Pak testified that “at the end of that conversation, 
Mr. Barr had asked [him] if [he] had seen a certain videotape that was 
being reported in the news.”67 This videotape, allegedly showing ballot-
 
58. See id. (explaining that Rudy Giuliani suggested telling the public that 

Trump had won the election outright); see also Amy B. Wang, John 
Wagner, Eugene Scott & Mariana Alfaro, Trump Pushed ‘Big Lie’ Despite 
Being Told Election Fraud Claims Were False, Aides Testify, Wash. 

Post (June 13, 2022, 1:46 PM), https://www.washingtonpost.com/national 
-security/2022/06/13/jan-6-committee-hearings-live/ [https://perma.cc 
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stuffing in Atlanta’s State Farm Arena, was shown by Giuliani in a 
Senate subcommittee hearing.68 Since Barr had publicly stated “that he 
had not seen any widespread election fraud that would question the 
outcome of the election,” he requested that Pak investigate the video 
so that when he went to the White House for a meeting, if this issue 
came up, he would be able to substantiate or deny the allegation.69 
Upon investigation, the supposed suitcase of ballots was a lockbox 
designed to keep ballots safe. Only specific clips of the video were played 
to convey “a smoking gun of fraud.”70 Interviews were conducted, and 
it was “determined that nothing irregular happened in the counting.”71 
Thus, “the allegations made by Mr. Giuliani were false.”72  Pak 
affirmatively stated that he did not believe the evidence pointed to 
expansive fraud sufficient to undermine anyone’s confidence about the 
election results in Georgia.73 His testimony only further proved that 
individuals within the Trump campaign tried to project false narratives 
to overturn the results of the election. 

On December 14, Trump showed Barr a report that would 
supposedly grant the President a second term. As Barr looked through 
this report, he did not find it impressive or see any real evidence within 
it.74 Throughout his testimony on June 13, Barr expressed that Trump 
attempted to get the results of the presidential election overturned 
without any substantial evidence.75  In the meantime, Trump’s 
campaign lawyers continued to sow doubt about the 2020 election 
results wherever they could. Trump campaign lawyer Matt Morgan 
testified that most members of Trump’s team “were not comfortable 
[with] the arguments that Rudy Giuliani was making publicly.”76 Barr 
testified that he did not agree that the election was stolen. He explained 
that he did not want to be a part of this message, and that the 
messaging eventually spurred his resignation.77 Barr also testified that 
he believed Trump’s grip on reality was slipping.78 When additional 
portions of Barr’s testimony were played, it was shown that when the 
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department “received specific and credible allegations of fraud,” they 
made a serious effort to investigate these claims.79 He explained that 
“there was an avalanche of all these allegations of fraud that built up 
over a number of days.”80 

While the DOJ was absent from Trump’s crusade against the 
election results, his campaign lawyers took the mantle, filing several 
lawsuits. The committee called legal expert Benjamin Ginsberg to 
testify about these lawsuits.81  Ginsberg’s whole career involved 
representing Republicans in litigation related to elections, and he served 
on the National Council on Republican Presidential Campaigns in 2000, 
2004, and 2012.82  Additionally, he served as the co-chair of the 
Presidential Commission on Election Administration. He analyzed the 
Trump campaign’s litigation thoroughly.83  Ginsberg noted that the 
normal course of any campaign involves “analyz[ing] precinct results to 
look for [any] abnormalities in the results.”84  Additionally, all 
campaigns have poll watchers working to observe polling places. The 
Trump campaign, in the run-up to the election, boasted that they had 
50,000 poll workers.85  However, Ginsberg noted that the Trump 
campaign did have “a couple of basic problems,” namely that the 
“election was not close.”86 As such, the Trump campaign brought cases 
without any actual evidence. In fact, there was never an instance where 
the claims were credible.87  Ginsberg also stated that the Trump 
campaign was given its time in court.88 There was no sufficient evidence 
of these claims however, so most of them were dismissed. Again, the 
courts in no instances found that charges of fraud were valid. Ginsberg 
also noted that while many state and local officials were labeled by the 
Trump team as perpetuating fraud, all allegations were investigated 
fairly and there was no substantial evidence of election fraud found.89 

Former Philadelphia City Commissioner Al Schmidt also testified 
before the committee.90 Congresswoman Zoe Lofgren spoke with Al 
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Schmidt regarding what he knew about Philadelphia’s election process 
since at the time of the 2020 election, he was the only Republican 
member of the three-person city commission. He understood that there 
were claims “that 8,000 dead people voted in Pennsylvania.”91  Al 
Schmidt concluded that “[n]ot only was there not evidence of 8,000 
dead voters voting in Pennsylvania,” but there was also no evidence of 
even eight dead voters.92 Schmidt also indicated that he received threats 
prior to a direct tweet from Trump.93 Trump tweeted, “A guy named 
Al Schmidt, a Philadelphia commissioner and so-called Republican or 
RINO [(Republican in Name Only)], is being used big time by the fake 
news media to explain how honest things were with respect to the 
election in Philadelphia.”94 Trump also expressed, “[Schmidt] refuses to 
look at a mountain of corruption dishonesty. We win.”95 Schmidt noted 
the impact that this tweet had on him and his family because after the 
tweet, the threats became much more intense, graphic, and serious. The 
threats were also expanded to include his family members and his 
home.96 Schmidt also emphasized that there were many allegations of 
corruption and dishonesty throughout the 2020 election. However, they 
were all investigated, and no credible evidence was found to determine 
that corruption occurred. They investigated every voter’s age, voter 
registration, and felon status to ensure a fair election.97 

Finally, Morgan testified that on January 2, Trump’s own 
campaign team admitted to the President that they did not have 
sufficient evidence of fraud. The President continued pushing that 
narrative anyway.98 Relatedly, Pence aide Alex Cannon testified that 
many on the Vice President’s staff believed that there was no evidence 
of fraud.99 

B. June 16 Hearing 

The June 16 hearing highlighted that Trump sought to obstruct 
the joint session of Congress on January 6 and that he attempted to 
pressure Vice President Mike Pence into unilaterally selecting him as 
the next President of the United States. Throughout the entirety of 
their pressure campaign, Trump’s lawyers—Giuliani and John 
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Eastman—knew that their plot was illegal and would lose in court. 
Additionally, Trump “tried to pressure state legislatures to reverse the 
results of the election in their states, but they refused.”100 Trump also 
“tried to enlist the [DOJ] in his efforts to overturn election results, but 
[DOJ] officials . . . refused to comply.”101 

1. The Run-up to January 6 

After Trump’s losses in court, electors met in all fifty states in mid-
December to cast their votes for President. Three hundred and six 
electors cast their vote for Biden, and 232 electors cast their votes for 
Trump.102 With the Electoral College vote completed, the attention of 
the Trump team shifted to the certification of the vote by Congress on 
January 6, 2021.103 In Trump’s circles, there were debates over whether 
Pence had the authority to declare electoral votes invalid. Trump 
attorney John Eastman was one of the chief proponents of the theory 
that the Twelfth Amendment gave the Vice President the authority to 
refuse electors.104 However, Greg Jacob, counsel to Pence, testified that 
Eastman knew that his proposal violated the Electoral Count Act.105 

Greg Jacob recalled that he first spoke with Pence about the 
Twelfth Amendment and the Electoral Count Act in early December.106 
Jacob testified that Pence called him into his office and suggested that 
he, the Vice President, “had a significant role to play on January 6.”107 
Jacob testified that Pence then asked him if he knew the rules that 
governed a joint session, to which Jacob responded that there were no 
rules that governed the joint session, but there was a provision in the 
Constitution and an Electoral Count Act that had to be followed. Jacob 
told Pence that he would put together a memo for him.108 After Jacob 
assembled the memo, Jacob and Pence concluded that it was highly 
improbable that one “person[,] who had a direct interest in the outcome 
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of the election,” would be able “to have [a] decisive impact on the 
outcome” of said election.109 

Pence’s Chief of Staff, Marc Short, testified that the Vice President 
had always understood his role on January 6 to be one of ceremony, 
not power.110 However, Trump sent out false statements to make it 
appear as if Pence agreed with him despite his previous conflicting 
statements. Short expressed frustration that Pence’s perspective was 
misrepresented without him ever having been consulted.111 Short also 
wanted Pence guarded on January 6, as he was fearful that Trump 
would lash out.112 

Eastman persisted in pressuring Pence to overturn the election. 
Jacob testified that on January 4, Eastman discussed what he thought 
were two legally viable actions for Pence to take on January 6.113 One 
of the options was for Pence to reject electoral votes outright, which, 
after discussion, Eastman admitted would be less politically plausible. 
“The other was that [Pence] could use his capacity as presiding officer 
to suspend the proceedings and declare . . . a 10-day recess during 
which” the disputed states could “reexamine the election and declare 
who had won each of those states.”114 Jacob testified that he pushed 
back on Eastman’s claims, saying they violated the Electoral Count 
Act, to which Eastman responded that the Electoral Count Act was 
unconstitutional and that the courts would not stop Pence.115 Pence, 
for his part, did not budge and refused to take either approach.116 

On January 5, Eastman admitted to Jacob that they would lose 
9–0 at the Supreme Court if Pence tried to invalidate the election.117 
However, later that day, Eastman advised Pence to take the route of 
rejecting electoral votes outright, despite his claim a day earlier about 
its political infeasibility. While Jacob testified that he was able to talk 
Eastman down from the plan to reject electors, Eastman still wanted 
Pence to send the decision back to the states.118 Later that evening, 
Jacob, the Vice President, Eastman, and others were on a group call 
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with the President, in which Trump implicitly encouraged Pence to 
suspend the proceedings.119 

Former U.S. Court of Appeals Judge Michael Luttig, one of the 
nation’s foremost conservative legal minds, provided critical advice to 
Pence throughout this time.120 Luttig released a statement prior to 
testifying that “had the Vice President of the United States obeyed the 
President of the United States[,] America would immediately have been 
plunged into what would have been tantamount to a revolution within 
a paralyzing constitutional crisis.”121  When asked to elaborate, he 
explained that the foundational truth of the United States of America 
is the rule of law. Luttig testified that if the Vice President had declared 
Trump to be the President, the country would have experienced its 
“first constitutional crisis since the founding of the republic.”122 Luttig 
also described the efforts to overturn the election as “[t]he most reckless, 
insidious, and calamitous failures in both legal and political judgment 
in American history.”123  

2. The Day of the Attack 

Three of Pence’s advisers—Marc Short, Devin O’Malley, and Chris 
Hodgson—all convened at the Vice President’s house on the morning 
of January 6. Jacob testified that they were in the middle of finalizing 
a statement when the Vice President left the room to take a phone call 
from the President.124 When Pence came back into the room, Jacob 
described him as being “steely, determined, [and] grim.”125 White House 
attorney Eric Herschmann, who was in the room with Trump during 
the call, said that while the conversation started calmly, things 
gradually became more heated.126 Ivanka Trump, who was also in the 
room, testified that Trump used “a different tone” than he had ever 
taken with the Vice President.127 Trump and his allies then spent the 
rest of the morning attacking the Vice President. Press Secretary Sarah 
Matthews testified that she and Ben Williamson from the Chief of 
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Staff’s office agreed that the President needed to tweet something. 
However, they were not expecting the President to tweet an attack on 
Pence. Matthews testified that she believed Trump’s tweet “pour[ed] 
gasoline on the fire.”128 

Eastman declared that if Pence allowed the legislators to 
investigate the alleged election fraud, the American people could be 
confident that they had control over the direction of the government. 
On another occasion, Eastman stated that the situation relied on the 
“courage and spine of the individuals involved,” with the individual in 
question being Pence.129 During Eastman’s deposition, he asserted his 
Fifth Amendment right to every question.130 Giuliani told the crowd 
that the plan to overturn the election through Pence would be perfectly 
legal, stating that because the Electoral Count Act was unconstitu-
tional, Pence could cast it aside. This would allow Pence either to reject 
the electors from contested states or to send them back to the states.131 
Following the rally, a mob descended on the Capitol. When they 
reached the building, some, nooses in hand, were chanting “hang Mike 
Pence.”132 

Jacob was with Pence during the Capitol riots. Jacob recalls 
hearing “the din of . . . rioters in the building,” but he was not aware 
of how close they were.133 The Secret Service was able to direct Pence 
and his team to secure cars that would leave the Capitol. Most members 
of the Vice President’s staff entered the secure cars, including Jacob. 
However, Pence refused to enter the car because he wanted to 
“complete the work that [he] had set out to do that day.”134 Jacob 
recalls that Pence was frustrated that Trump did not check on his 
safety during the riot.135 Once the riot had subsided and the joint 
session was able to reconvene, Eastman emailed Jacob alleging that the 
nation violated the Electoral Count Act since the debate about Arizona 
had not ended within two hours.136 Jacob stated that they could not be 
completed in two hours because “there was an intervening riot of several 
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hours.”137 After reading Eastman’s email, Pence called it “rubber room 
stuff,” which Jacob interpreted to mean crazy.138 

3. After January 6 

Herschmann noted that on January 7, he received a phone call from 
Eastman.139 Eastman brought up that there was something that needed 
to be done with Georgia and preserving it to potentially appeal. 
Herschmann was shocked by this statement. He expressed that the only 
two words that should be coming from Eastman’s mouth were “orderly 
transition.”140 He informed him that he was going to need a great 
criminal defense lawyer, and he proceeded to hang up the phone.141 

C. June 21 Hearing 

The June 21 hearings highlighted that Trump had a “scheme to 
overturn the election” that included “pressuring public servants” to 
betray “their oath.”142 He sought to pressure “officials at the local and 
state level to say the vote was tainted by widespread fraud.”143 His goal 
was to get them to throw out the results, even though the committee 
determined that there was not any voter fraud. Additionally, Trump 
was “directly involved in advancing and coordinating the plot to replace 
legitimate Biden electors with fake electors . . . to cast and submit 
their votes through fake certificates.”144  When public servants and 
elected officials would not embrace the allegations and “substitute the 
will of the voters with . . . Trump’s will to remain in power, [he] worked 
to ensure they’d face the consequences.”145  There were “threats to 
people’s livelihood and lives, threats of violence that Donald Trump 
knew about and amplified.”146 

1. Fake Electors 

The Trump campaign organized slates of fake electors that were 
submitted to Pence and the National Archives. This was so that Pence 
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could declare the Trump electors legitimate and overturn the election 
results.147 Select Committee investigator Casey Lucier testified that 

[o]n November 18, a lawyer working with the Trump campaign, 
named Kenneth Chesebro, wrote a memo arguing that the Trump 
campaign should organize its own electors in the swing states that 
President Trump had lost. The Select Committee received 
testimony that those close to President Trump began planning 
to organize fake electors for Trump in states that Biden 
won . . . .148 

Lucier testified that “[a]t [Trump’s] direct request, the [Republican 
National Committee (RNC)] assisted the campaign in coordinating [the] 
effort” to have alternative electors meet.149  “[T]hese fake electors 
[would] cast and submit their votes through fake certificates . . . .”150 
Ronna Romney McDaniel, chairwoman of the RNC, testified that 
Eastman discussed the importance of the RNC’s help in gathering 
contingent electors, just in case the campaign’s litigation proved 
successful.151 It is to McDaniel’s understanding that it was the RNC’s 
job to reach out and assemble the elector slates; however, McDaniel 
affirmed that “the campaign did take the lead” and the RNC was only 
“helping them . . . in that role.”152 

Lucier testified that the electors in several states were given 
instructions on how “they needed to cast their ballots in complete 
secrecy.”153 Lucier noted that “[i]n one state, the fake electors even 
asked for . . . the campaign [to] pay their legal fees if they got sued or 
charged with a crime.”154  

Ultimately, fake electors did meet on December 14th, 2020 in 
Arizona, Georgia, Michigan, Pennsylvania, New Mexico, Nevada, 
and Wisconsin. At the request of the Trump campaign, the 
electors from these battleground states signed documents falsely 
asserting that they were the quote, “duly elected electors,” from 
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their state and submitted them to the National Archives and to 
Vice President Pence in his capacity as President of the Senate.155  

Lucier explained that some campaign lawyers, like Justin Clark and 
Matt Morgan, were convinced that it “was no longer appropriate” to 
“conven[e] electors in states that Trump lost.”156  Morgan recalled 
having Josh Finley email Chesebro to take him off the task to assume 
zero responsibility.157 

2. State Officials Pressured 

The Trump team, and Trump himself, also pressured state officials 
to act against the so-called fraudulent election results. Select 
Committee investigator Josh Roselman testified that the Trump 
campaign circulated a memo to the White House, Giuliani, and state 
legislatures that Eastman had drafted claiming the election was 
fraudulent.158 However, Republican officials in several states, such as 
Georgia Governor Brian Kemp, “released public statements recognizing 
that . . . Trump’s proposal was unlawful.”159 Roselman specified that 
the “pressure campaign to get state legislators to go along with the 
scheme intensified when . . . Trump invited delegations from Michigan 
and Pennsylvania to the White House”; however, Georgia was a 
significant target for the campaign as well.160 

Michigan Senate Majority Leader Mike Shirkey was one of the 
legislators invited to the White House. Shirkey testified that during his 
visit, he told Trump that he would not do anything to violate Michigan 
law.161 The next day, “Trump disclosed Mike Shirkey’s personal phone 
number to his millions of followers.”162 Shirkey recalled receiving “just 
shy of 4,000 text messages over a short period of time . . . .”163 He 
noted that the text messages had a “loud consistent cadence of . . . 
Trump folks . . . asking for changes in the electors . . . .”164 
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In some cases, Trump and his team targeted the homes of state 
officials. Michigan Secretary of State Jocelyn Benson testified that she 
heard noises outside of her home after the former President’s false 
allegations of fraud.165 Benson remembered the feeling of her stomach 
sinking. Benson was most scared about the uncertainty of the situation, 
testifying that she didn’t know if they had guns, were going to attack 
her house, or hurt her child.166 Similarly, 

[a]nother legislator, Pennsylvania House Speaker Bryan Cutler, 
received daily voicemails from Trump’s lawyers in the last week 
of November.  

 . . . . 

Cutler felt that the outreach was inappropriate and asked his 
lawyers to tell Rudy Giuliani to stop calling. But Giuliani 
continued to reach out.  

 . . . . 

On December 30th Trump ally Steve Bannon announced a 
protest at Cutler’s home.167  

Bannon said that they were “getting on the road and we’re going down 
to Cutler.”168 It was Bannon’s goal to go to the homes and offices of 
officials to let them know what he thought about the election being 
stolen.169 

Cutler testified that he did not remember the exact number of 
protests; however, he does know multiple took place either outside of 
his district office or home. During the first protest, Cutler’s “15 year 
old son was home by himself . . . .”170  Cutler said his personal 
information, including his email and home and cell phone numbers, was 
doxed online.171 His family disconnected the home phone for three days 
due to the constant ringing and pileup with threatening messages. On 
one message, an unknown Trump ally is heard saying, “Bryan Cutler, 
we are outside.”172 
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Arizona House Speaker Rusty Bowers’s testimony was extremely 
similar. He also received multiple calls from and met multiple times 
with Trump’s attorneys.173 During these meetings, Bowers asked to see 
evidence, which the attorneys could not produce. On January 4, 2021, 
Bowers received a call from John Eastman asking him to decertify 
Arizona’s electors. Bowers told Eastman this would be unconstitutional. 
On the morning of January 6, U.S. Representative Andy Biggs called 
Bowers and asked him if he “would support the decertification of the 
electors.” Bowers said that he would not.174 Bowers testified that after 
he stood in defense of the 2020 election, his family was subjected to 
protests and terrible threats. Bowers disclosed that his offices received 
“in excess of 20,000 emails” and “tens of thousands of voicemails and 
texts.”175 Bowers claimed that various groups had driven by his house 
and threatened his family as well as his neighbors.176 

While the Trump campaign and its allies pressured state officials 
in Michigan, Pennsylvania, and Arizona, it put the most pressure on 
Georgia. Trump made phone calls to officials in Georgia and other 
states to support his stolen-election allegations. Many of these 
allegations centered around the video where ballots were allegedly 
carted in suitcases into the State Farm Arena in Atlanta, Georgia.177 In 
one of these calls, Attorney General Richard Donoghue told Trump 
that despite the hundreds of interviews and dozens of investigations, 
the evidence did not support the allegations from the State Farm Arena 
video.178 Trump’s advisors told him he had no bases for his claim that 
the election was stolen. Within one phone call, Donoghue noted that 
the President’s team zeroed in on a suitcase they thought contained 
fraudulent ballots. Donoghue told Trump that there was no suitcase 
and that his claims were false.179 

Nonetheless, Rudy Giuliani went to the Georgia state senate with 
surveillance footage from the State Farm Arena. During this hearing, 
Giuliani claimed the video displayed illegitimate votes being cast. He 
believed the video was a “powerful smoking gun.”180 A week later, 
during his second hearing before the Georgia State Legislature, Giuliani 
stated that Fulton County election officials Shaye Moss and Ruby 
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Freeman, along with another man, were passing around USB drives like 
they were “vials of heroin.”181 Giuliani claimed that not only should 
these individuals have been questioned, but their workplaces and 
residences should have been searched for evidence of election fraud.182 

After the hearing, Moss testified that she received horrible messages 
through her social media accounts.183 These messages included death 
threats and racist comments. During her ten years as an election 
worker, Ms. Moss stated that she had never experienced threats as she 
had received during the 2020 election. Ruby Freeman expressed that 
her sense of security was taken because of the President’s false claims. 
She did not feel comfortable introducing herself by her own name, nor 
did she feel comfortable in her own home.184  Around the week of 
January 6, Ruby Freeman was informed by the FBI that she needed to 
leave her home for her own protection, resulting in her staying away 
from her house for nearly two months. The removal from her home was 
fast-tracked when Trump supporters forcefully entered her residence, 
claiming that they were making a “citizen’s arrest.”185 

While Trump and his team spread lies about the Georgia vote, two 
Georgia officials were devoted to correcting the record. One, Georgia 
Secretary of State Brad Raffensperger, was at the center of Trump’s 
second impeachment trial. In his testimony, Raffensperger denied all 
allegations of fraud and confirmed that Biden won Georgia.186 The other 
Georgia official correcting the record was Gabriel Sterling, the statewide 
voting systems implementation manager in Georgia for the 2020 
election. In a December 1 press conference, Sterling directly addressed 
his concerns with Donald Trump. Sterling stated that it was within the 
President’s right to go to the courts; however, it was not in his right to 
inspire citizens to potentially commit acts of violence.187 Sterling was 
prompted to make these remarks after being informed that a young 
contractor received threats after QAnon supporters posted a video. 
Additionally, Sterling was told that a twenty-year-old tech in Gwinnett 
County had received death threats for “treason.”188  Sterling later 
testified that Trump failed to urge his supporters to avoid violence. 
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Sterling further expressed that, although he did make efforts to combat 
the misinformation, it was frustrating competing with Trump’s 
platform and social media megaphone.189 

D. June 23 Hearing 

The fifth hearing regarding the January 6 attack occurred on 
June 23, 2022. It focused on Trump’s attempts to harness the powers 
of the DOJ to remain in office. Testimony from three former DOJ 
officials, including Jeff Rosen and Richard Donoghue, proved how 
Trump attempted to place an ally within the DOJ to reverse the 
election results of key swing states.190 Trump aggressively pushed to 
install Jeffrey Clark as Acting Attorney General because he was 
prepared to take actions to reverse the election results. At the center of 
this plan was a letter drafted by Clark and other Trump loyalists who 
hoped to send it to state officials in Georgia. This letter falsely claimed 
that the DOJ found evidence of election fraud and that the results 
needed to be rethought. Trump would not give up on his claims of fraud 
even though there was not any evidence to support them.191 

1. Attempts to Use the Justice Department to Push Fraud Theories 

Attorney General Barr testified again on June 23 to provide 
evidence that Trump pressured the DOJ to overturn the election. When 
asked why he investigated the fraud at all, Barr said that he felt it was 
responsible to put the DOJ in a position to speak on the accuracy of 
Trump’s claims.192 Barr testified that the DOJ’s ability to deny the 
allegations facilitated the peaceful transition of power. Barr said it 
frightened him to think what might have happened if the DOJ had 
waited until Biden was in office to conduct these investigations, even 
insinuating that there may not have been a transition of power at all.193 
However, Barr did draw the line at appointing a special counsel. Neither 
Barr nor Acting Attorney General Rosen thought that a special counsel 
was necessary.194 However, given the situation, Barr conferred with the 
DOJ’s counsel, Steven Engel, about the legality of appointing 
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Louisiana’s attorney general as special counsel, which Engel said was 
illegal.195 

After Barr’s resignation, Rosen became the Acting Attorney 
General. Rosen testified that Trump met with him almost every day to 
push allegations of election fraud.196 His most common concern was 
Trump’s expression of dissatisfaction with the DOJ. In his view, the 
department had not gone far enough in investigating potential election 
fraud.197 Based on the facts and the law, DOJ officials declined all of 
Trump’s requests as inappropriate.198 They informed Trump that the 
reviews conducted by the DOJ did not indicate the fraud that the 
President had alleged existed. Trump felt as though the election had 
been stolen, and he wanted to continue to meet with the DOJ to ensure 
that they were doing what he deemed was enough to solve these 
issues.199 

Trump continued to get more desperate in his attempts to hold on 
to power. The President summoned both Rosen and U.S. Attorney 
Richard Donoghue to the White House on December 15, a day after 
Barr announced his resignation.200 At this meeting, the conversation 
focused on a report about Antrim County, Michigan, that had been 
recently released. There had been recent reports that the voting 
machines allegedly had a 68 percent error rate. Adamant that the report 
had to be accurate, Trump said the report was proof that he won the 
election. Trump said the DOJ should employ the report to inform the 
American public that the election results could not be trusted. Rosen 
testified that Trump suggested seizing voting machines that he claimed 
were faulty.201 However, the DOJ refused, citing a lack of evidence. 
Rosen emphasized how important it was that the DOJ adhere to the 
facts and the law, and multiple DOJ officials, including Engel and 
Donoghue, had Rosen’s back.202 

Donoghue noted that, as conversations went on throughout 
December, the President more urgently expressed that he felt the DOJ 
was not doing its job.203 He had many allegations that he was relying 
on to overturn the election. Donoghue needed to make it clear to the 
President that DOJ’s conclusion had not changed—based on real 
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investigations, witness interviews, and document review, the allegations 
were meritless.204  Donoghue testified that one Assistant Attorney 
General, Jeffrey Clark, told the President that he was ready, willing, 
and able to overturn the election if he was named Acting Attorney 
General.205 Clark prepared a draft letter to Georgia officials asking them 
to declare Trump the winner of its sixteen electoral votes.206 Trump 
lawyer Eric Herschmann testified that Clark’s plans would violate 
Rule 6(e) and be felonious; however, Engel and Donoghue testified that 
Trump seriously considered replacing Rosen with Clark.207 Engel told 
the President that he would resign if he did so.208 Cassidy Hutchinson, 
a top aide to Mark Meadows, testified that Representative Scott Perry 
also pushed for Jeffrey Clark to take over the DOJ.209 

The underlying theme was that Trump and his allies attempted to 
use the DOJ to subvert the rule of law. However, the pushback of 
multiple officials ultimately prevented a nightmare scenario from 
happening. 

2. Pardon Requests 

Following the January 6 attack, multiple lawmakers asked the 
White House for pardons of potential criminal activity. According to 
Herschmann’s and Hutchinson’s testimony, Representatives Matt 
Gaetz and Mo Brooks each requested blanket pardons.210 Hutchinson 
testified that Representatives Louie Gohmert and Scott Perry also 
asked her to facilitate a presidential pardon.211 She also testified that 
Representatives Jim Jordan and Andy Biggs also discussed pardons, 
but they never asked for one.212 

E. July 21 Hearing 

The July 21 hearing focused on the period between, roughly, 1:49 
and 4:17 p.m. on January 6, 2021, the time between when a riot was 
declared at the Capitol and when Trump went to the Rose Garden to 
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film a message to his supporters.213 The committee, through interviews 
with several witnesses, presented the argument that Trump “did not 
fail to act . . . [h]e chose not to act.”214 The committee also presented 
evidence that while Trump refused to act, Vice President Mike Pence 
stepped up.215 

1. Trump Could Have Made a Statement at Any Time 

As fictional White House Chief of Staff Leo McGarry tells President 
Bartlett in The West Wing, there is no “shortage of cameras or 
microphones” in the White House.216  In fact, President Theodore 
Roosevelt called the presidency a “bully pulpit,” which was especially 
true on January 6, 2021, when virtually every tweet from Trump’s 
Twitter account became a news story.217  As the Select Committee 
pointed out, Trump’s refusal to act was because he did not want to.218 

White House Deputy Press Secretary Sarah Matthews testified that 
Trump was about sixty seconds from the Press Briefing Room at all 
times during the January 6 attack.219 By the time the violence appeared 
on American televisions, at around 2:10 p.m., many White House 
staffers told Chief of Staff Mark Meadows that Trump needed to make 
a statement.220 At 2:24 p.m., Trump tweeted the following: “Mike Pence 
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didn’t have the courage to do what should have been done to protect our 
Country and our Constitution . . . .”221 

Multiple witnesses included the 2:24 p.m. tweet in their testimony. 
Matthews said she was deeply disappointed in the tweet, calling it the 
“last thing” the President should have done.222 White House Counsel 
Pat Cipollone said that he believed the tweet was “terrible.”223 Deputy 
Press Secretary Judd Deere was concerned that the tweet would make 
the situation worse.224  Deere also pushed Press Secretary Kayleigh 
McEnany to make the President put out a statement.225 

The 2:24 p.m. tweet is significant because it is one of the only 
official records of Trump’s activities between his exit from the Ellipse 
at 1:21 p.m. and his Rose Garden speech. Two other tweets, at 2:38 
and 3:13 p.m., respectively, urged his supporters to remain peaceful to 
Capitol Police (though, as Congressman Adam Kinzinger pointed out, 
the mob had already turned violent).226 A video of the Oath Keepers 
showed that the hate group took that 2:38 p.m. tweet to mean they 
could harm congresspeople but not the police.227 

According to Cipollone’s testimony, Trump made no calls to the 
Attorney General, the Secretary of Defense, or the Secretary of 
Homeland Security.228 Cipollone also testified that Mark Meadows, Eric 
Herschmann, Ivanka Trump, Pat Philbin, and others were all pushing 
for the President to condemn the violence.229 The committee obtained 
text messages from Laura Ingraham and Donald Trump Jr. imploring 
Meadows to get Trump Sr. in front of a camera to condemn the 
violence.230 Trump Sr. refused to do so. Further testimony revealed that 
as Trump refused to condemn the violence, he was calling senators to 
ensure they would support delaying the counting of electoral votes.231 
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In a deposition, Senator Tommy Tuberville of Alabama testified that 
Trump called him during the early stages of the evacuation.232 

Aides also believed that while better, Trump’s Rose Garden address 
was unsatisfactory.233  Matthews noted her surprise that Trump 
continued the lie even after the violence at the Capitol.234 She was also 
“disturb[ed]” that Trump did not differentiate between the rioters and 
the peaceful protesters when he said, “[Y]ou’re very special.”235 
However, those at the Capitol, like Stephen Ayres, noted that once the 
President said to go home, the rioters obeyed.236 A videotape played of 
an unknown voice telling the mob that the President had given them 
an “order” to go home.237 

2. Who Was Giving Orders? 

Testimony from July 21 also insinuated that Pence, and not 
Trump, was giving orders to the National Guard on January 6.238 
According to Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff Mark Milley, Pence 
told the chairman to make it seem like the President was still giving 
orders.239 Pence may have been spurred to a decision by the fear his 
Secret Service detail had for his life (and their lives, as well).240 The 
mob repeatedly voiced their desire to hang the Vice President for 
treason, and a videotape played by the committee revealed that Secret 
Service members were making calls to loved ones to say goodbye.241 

II. The January 6 Insurrection and 

the Myth that Blue Lives Matter 

Polls that examined partisan attitudes toward police and law 
enforcement emerged in the 1990s and increased in size and scope 
throughout the first two decades of the twenty-first century. In 2015, a 
Gallup poll found that between 1993 and 2015, the percentage of 
respondents with “a great deal or quite a lot of” confidence in the police 
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never fell below 50 percent.242 The lowest points of confidence were in 
1993 and 2015 (52 percent) with the highest point being in 2004 (at 
64 percent).243 However, the poll also highlighted partisan differences 
on the issue. Democrats’ confidence in the police dropped thirteen 
percentage points from 2013 to 2015 compared to 2012 to 2013, a larger 
shift than for any other subgroup. Over the same time, both 
independents’ and Republicans’ confidence in the police did not change. 
As a result, it appears Democrats (42 percent) have less confidence in 
the police than independents (51 percent) and remain much less 
confident than Republicans (69 percent).244 

The Cato Institute’s 2016 Criminal Justice Survey found 
“Republicans (81%) are far more favorable toward the police than 
independents (59%) and Democrats (59%).”245 Similarly, a 2016 Pew 
Research Center poll found that “Republicans and Democrats have 
vastly different opinions about how well police do their jobs and the 
realities of policing today—views that are likely linked to clear partisan 
splits on opinions of the Black Lives Matter movement and highly 
publicized fatal encounters between blacks and police in recent years.”246 
Thirty-one percent of Democrats and 33 percent of independents saw 
police as “enforcers” and not “protectors;” only 17 percent of 
Republicans agree.247 Not surprisingly, “Republicans are almost twice 
as likely as Democrats to say they have a lot of confidence in their 
community’s police department (51% vs. 29%).”248 These findings stand 
in stark contrast to the experiences of law enforcement on January 6 
and Republicans’ responses to what those officers experienced. 

The testimony of Cassidy Hutchinson, principal aide to White 
House Chief of Staff Mark Meadows from 2020 to 2021, offered context 
as to Trump’s efforts to use violence the overturn the 2020 presidential 
election results. Five law enforcement officers—Sergeant Aquilino 
Gonell and Officers Harry Dunn, Caroline Edwards, Michael Farnone, 
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and Daniel Hodges—delivered testimony to the House Select 
Committee about their experience in responding to the deadly 
January 6 insurrection at the U.S. Capitol. Their narrative accounts 
provide insight into the racism, racist threats, and physical violence 
experienced by officers working at the U.S. Capitol on January 6. 
Lieutenant Michael Byrd also came forward with additional insights. 

The January 6 insurrection injured more than 150 police officers 
and left four insurrectionists dead. One police officer died of a stroke 
after the riots had ended, and several others committed suicide in the 
weeks that followed. Some 135 officers resigned or retired from their 
posts in the year after January 6, and the Capitol Police force 
considered itself understaffed by as many as 400 officers as of 
January 2022. Many of the officers who were on duty during the riots 
continue to suffer from the ongoing effects of trauma.249 Officer Brian 
Sicknick died of a stroke that occurred “while physically engaging with 
protestors.”250  Officers Jeffrey Smith and Howard Liebengood 
confronted rioters in the Capitol building and took their lives days 
later.251 

Even more, during the insurrection, the Vice President’s Secret 
Service agents were fearful for their lives.252 A National Security Council 
staff member revealed they were terrified they were going to die. When 
asked about a note they took during the riot, they stated “that Secret 
Service agents at the Capitol ‘did not sound good right now.’”253 They 
then stated that they meant that “members of the VP detail at this 
time were starting to fear for their own lives. There was a lot of . . . 
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yelling, . . . a lot of very personal calls over the radio . . . it was 
disturbing. . . . But . . . there were calls to say goodbye to family 
members.”254 They explained that the Secret Service came very close to 
having to employ lethal options or worse.255 The Secret Service was 
concerned that the Vice President had been compromised as the mob 
chanted “Hang Mike Pence.”256 At this time, Trump tweeted that Pence 
“didn’t have the courage to do what should have been done”257—
meaning that Pence should have declared Trump the winner of the 
presidential election despite the fact that he did not have the authority 
to do so. 

A. Cassidy Hutchinson June 28 Testimony 

During her tenure in the Trump administration, Hutchinson was a 
trusted member of Mark Meadows’s staff and frequently worked with 
members of the Secret Service, members of Congress, and senior 
members of the Trump administration.258 Hutchinson first recognized 
the organization of events for January 6 four days prior to the 
insurrection, when she met with two senior Trump administration 
members, Meadows and Trump’s lead lawyer, Rudy Giuliani.259 That 
night, Hutchinson and Giuliani had a conversation where he insinuated 
that on January 6, they were “going to the Capitol.”260 Giuliani also 
went into detail about how joyous this day would be for showcasing 
Trump’s power.261 After this conversation, Ms. Hutchinson went to 
Meadows’s office, where the Chief of Staff told her that “things might 
get real, real bad on January 6th.”262 

On January 6, Hutchinson met with Deputy Chief of Staff Tony 
Ornato and Meadows about the armed rally attendees.263 Specifically, 
it was stated that many attendees carried weapons and other items 
(such as pepper spray, knives, gas masks, and blunt weapons) that were 
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confiscated when entering Trump’s rally at the Ellipse.264 However, 
many people watched the rally from outside the venue, where they 
could keep their weapons, including AR15s, since they did not have to 
pass through a metal detector.265 Hutchinson said that during Ornato’s 
briefing about the extent of violence that could occur, Meadows was 
not paying close attention and asked only if the President was informed, 
which he was.266 Hutchinson then stated that Meadows failed to act on 
the concerns of the potential for violence in the days leading up to the 
riots and on the day of.267 

Hutchinson said that Trump was “furious” in the minutes leading 
up to his rally that the area inside the metal detectors was not filled.268 
Hutchinson also stated that Trump was angry that the Secret Service 
did not let armed people through the metal detectors and stated that 
he “[didn’t] effing care that they [had] weapons” since they were “not 
[there] to hurt [him].”269 Trump also reportedly said, “Let my people in. 
They can march to the Capitol from here.”270 When Hutchinson was 
informed during the rally that there was not sufficient security at the 
Capitol to fight against the rioters, she attempted to tell Meadows but 
was turned away twice.271 When Hutchinson finally relayed the message 
to Meadows, he did not have a reaction and merely changed the 
subject.272 

Hutchinson also agreed that Meadows’s claims that Trump was 
“speaking metaphorically” about going to the Capitol on January 6 
were false.273  Hutchinson indicated that in the days leading up to 
January 6, Trump informed multiple aides about his planned trip and 
had the Secret Service devise potential driving routes.274 In response to 
this, the White House Counsel strongly advised against Trump’s trip 
to the Capitol due to legal ramifications, including potential obstruction 
of Congress.275 When Hutchinson returned to the White House after the 
rally, she was informed by Ornato that Trump was so angry that he 
could not go to the Capitol due to safety concerns that he attempted 
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to take the steering wheel from his driver after his speech and drive 
himself there.276 

When the rioters finally reached the Capitol, White House Counsel 
Pat Cipollone went to Meadows’s office and said that immediate action 
needed to be taken.277 Meadows responded by saying that “[Trump] 
doesn’t want to do anything.”278 When the counsel said how serious this 
situation was and that “people are going to die,” the pair went to speak 
to Trump.279 During this meeting, they were informed of the “hang Mike 
Pence chants,” and Meadows told Hutchinson that Trump thought that 
“they[] [weren’t] doing anything wrong” and that “Mike deserve[d] 
it.”280 Instead of condemning the rioters, Trump defended them, which 
explains why he did not ask the rioters to leave the Capitol for multiple 
hours.281 

While the White House Counsel’s Office wanted immediate and 
swift action to condemn the rioters, Hutchinson stated that Meadows 
was leaning toward deflecting the blame toward particular groups of 
people, such as Antifa.282 Despite this, many people in Trump’s inner 
circle, including two of his children, urged him to condemn the rioters 
as soon as possible.283  Other Republican politicians, such as House 
Minority Leader Kevin McCarthy and Representative Mike Gallagher, 
also called on Trump to call off the attack.284 

Hutchinson testified that Trump was resistant to any type of 
follow-up speech being given in the aftermath of the insurrection.285 
Despite many Republicans’ reaching out to him about the ramifications 
of his lack of action, such as impeachment or invoking the Twenty-
Fifth Amendment, Trump did not want to condemn the rioters.286 
Trump ultimately gave the speech on January 7 and wanted to state 
that he pardoned all rioters, although that did not make it into the 
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final draft of the speech. Hutchinson concluded her testimony by stating 
that Meadows sought a pardon for the events relating to January 6.287 

B. Officer Caroline Edwards June 9 Testimony 

According to Bennie Thompson, 

Officer [Caroline] Edwards has been with the United States 
Capitol Police since 2017. On January 6th, Officer Edwards was 
assigned to the first responder unit which serves as the first line 
of defense at the Capitol complex. She also served as a member 
of the Civil Disturbance Unit, a special subset of the uniformed 
division trained to respond to mass demonstration events.288  

On January 6, she and approximately five other officers were 
guarding bike racks at the peace circle.289  A crowd led by Joseph 
Biggs—a member of the Proud Boys who was indicted by federal 
prosecutors and charged with participating in planning, preparing, and 
carrying out the insurrection—stormed the circle.290 Among the crowd 
were individuals wearing military fatigues and bulletproof vests. 
Another group of Proud Boys approached chanting “F-U-C-K 
Antifa.”291 Once the various groups began to merge, Biggs began asking 
questions such as, “You didn’t miss a paycheck during the pandemic[?]” 
and discussing the officers’ pay scale.292 

Given that Edwards has worked hundreds of civil disturbance 
events, she is well aware when antagonists attempt to turn her into a 
villain. When it became apparent this was happening on January 6, she 
said to her Sergeant, “Sarge, I think we’re going to need a few more 
people down here.”293  Edwards noticed Ryan Samsel, one of the 
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insurrectionists, put his arm around Biggs and conferred with him.294 
Then they started to approach the first barricade, ripping it down and 
progressing to the bike racks.295 As they pulled the bike racks, one hit 
Officer Edwards in the head.296 She was pushed back by the impact, her 
foot catching the stair behind her and her chin hitting the handrail. As 
a result, she was knocked unconscious. When Officer Edwards came to, 
she went back to the line on the House side of the Lower West 
Terrace.297  There were not many officers in that area, and Officer 
Sicknick was behind her for most of the thirty to forty-five minutes that 
she was there.298 She remembered noticing Officer Sicknick to the left 
of her, holding his head in his hands. She thought he was ghostly pale; 
she assumed that he had been sprayed.299 

As she reflected on that day, Edwards’s most vivid memory was of 
her breath catching in her throat as she observed what seemed like a 
war scene out of a movie.300 She could not believe her eyes. She saw 
officers on the ground bleeding, vomiting. She noted, “[I]t was carnage. 
It was chaos.”301 She went on: 

I can’t even describe what I saw. Never in my wildest dreams did 
I think that, as a police officer, as a law enforcement officer, I 
would find myself in the middle of a battle. You know, I—I’m 
trained to detain, you know, a couple of subjects and—and 
handle—you know, handle a crowd, but I—I’m not combat 
trained. And that day, it was just hours of hand-to-hand combat, 
hours of dealing with things that were way beyond any—any law 
enforcement officer has ever trained for. And I just remember—I 
just remember that moment of stepping behind the line and just 
seeing the absolute war zone that the west front had become.302 

She recounted how, despite her efforts to do her job and preserve 
democracy, on January 6 and in the following days, she was called 
“Nancy Pelosi’s dog,” “incompetent,” and “a traitor to [her] country, 
[her] oath, and [her] constitution.”303 
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C. Sergeant Aquilino Gonell Testimony 

Sergeant Aquilino Gonell was serving as Sergeant in the U.S. 
Capitol Police on January 6. During his testimony, Gonell recalled his 
immigration to the United States from the Dominican Republic. Gonell, 
having served in Iraq for Operation Iraqi Freedom, felt more afraid 
during the raid of the Capitol than during his deployment to Iraq.304 
Gonell recounted the verbal attacks as well as the physical violence he 
and other officers endured on that day. Rioters called Gonell a “traitor” 
and a “disgrace” and said he should be “executed” for defending the 
Capitol.305 When rioters saw the color of Gonell’s skin, they said that 
he was “not even American.”306 Gonell and his fellow officers were 
“punched, pushed, kicked, shoved, sprayed with chemical irritants, and 
even blinded with eye-damaging lasers . . . .”307  He described the 
rioters as “vicious and relentless” during their attacks.308 The next day, 
Gonell went back to the Capitol where he continued to work until the 
inauguration, for fifteen consecutive days. He was still suffering from 
his injury six months later.309 
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D. Officer Michael Fanone Testimony 

Officer Michael Fanone is an officer with the Metropolitan Police 
Department (MPD) in Washington, D.C.310  His career in law 
enforcement began shortly after the September 11 attacks, when he felt 
called to serve his nation. During Fanone’s testimony, he initially 
asserted his pride in serving the American institution and those who 
uphold democracy.311 Though his career has been filled with numerous 
“dicey situations,” Fanone claimed that the January 6 insurrection was 
beyond anything he had seen or could have anticipated.312 

On January 6, Fanone was “a plainclothes officer assigned to the 
First District Crime Suppression Team,” but Fanone and his partner, 
Jimmy Albright, were unable to “ignore the numerous calls.” They 
chose to help when they did not have to; Fanone claimed that there 
was no way he could have “ignore[d] what was happening.”313 Upon 
approaching the Lower West Terrace Tunnel, in what Fanone now calls 
a “turning point” in his career, he and Albright watched Ramey Kyle 
of the MPD serve as commander.314 “Commander Kyle remained cool, 
calm, and collected” while directing his officers to “‘[h]old the line’”—
“the seat of our American government.” Fanone claimed Kyle’s 
leadership on that day “was the most inspirational moment of [his] 
life.”315 

As they approached the Lower West Tunnel, Fanone joined thirty 
other officers standing shoulder to shoulder, using their bodies as 
human shields against attackers.316  These officers were worn down, 
beaten, and bleeding, but kept holding the line. When Albright asked 
the line of officers if anyone wanted to take a break, no one 
volunteered.317 They stood there, a small force against thousands of 
protesters that pushed against them. Fanone recalls being dragged into 
a crowd, where his badge was torn from his uniform, his ammunition 
was taken, and he was beaten with fists and metal objects. He was 
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electrocuted continuously with a taser, and as he screamed, Fanone 
claimed he could not hear his own voice.318 

Thus, Fanone claimed that in these moments, he faced death—
pleading for mercy and crying to his attackers—and by virtue of what 
was perhaps luck, someone from the crowd stepped in to help him. To 
this day, it is painful for Fanone to watch the videos of his attack, yet 
he wants everyone to know what happened that day.319  He was 
overwhelmingly grateful no members of Congress had to go through 
similar tortures. At the hospital, he was told he had suffered a heart 
attack, internal bleeding, and a brain injury and was suffering from 
post-traumatic stress disorder.320 

Fanone described his continuing psychological trauma and the 
effects on his family.321  His personal pain was immensely difficult; 
however, for Fanone, it was far more difficult to fathom that the very 
citizens and legislative members he defended denied the events of that 
day. He “went to Hell and back” protecting the people in the chamber, 
only for those same individuals to say that hell either does not exist or 
is not “all that bad.”322 

While the occupation of a police officer is inherently risky, Fanone 
claimed the “indifference” toward his colleagues was “disgraceful.” He 
never expected law-abiding citizens to turn against the very system that 
supports them. Fanone believed that in denying the events of 
January 6, members of the government betrayed their oath of office.323 
Their responses were shameful and laced with political affiliations, and 
such perspectives should not be dependent on political party.  

When Fanone and his partner willingly “suited up on January 6,” 
their intentions held no relation to politics, regardless of who sat as 
President. They never cared about who was in office. They merely 
wanted to do their job: protecting the public. Fanone called for the 
American people to acknowledge those who responded that day, the 
officers who remain unrecognized for their “acts of bravery and 
selflessness.”324 
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E. Officer Daniel Hodges Testimony 

Officer Daniel Hodges was “a member of Civil Disturbance Unit 42 
and worked in that capacity” on January 6, 2021. His initial task that 
morning was to “maintain high visibility” on Constitution Avenue 
toward the location of President Trump’s gathering.325 Hodges recalled 
a significant number of men at the gathering wore “ballistic vests, 
helmets, goggles, military face masks, [and] backpacks,” devoid of 
identifiable law enforcement or military insignia.326 He said that a group 
of white men in good shape wearing “battle dress uniform pants, tactical 
boots, black sunglasses,” and “load-bearing vests equipped with 
[Modular Lightweight Load-carrying Equipment (MOLLE)] pouches” 
approached two of his colleagues. Throughout the day, Hodges 
“monitored the crowd and the radio,” where he saw the Gun Recovery 
Unit working constantly, monitoring crowds, and arresting and seizing 
weapons from those “suspected [to be] carrying firearms.”327 In the early 
afternoon, he came across a confrontation between a white man wearing 
a Trump mask and a Black man—a counterprotester—backing away. 
Hodges and his colleagues separated the men, but a crowd of Trump 
supporters gathered and “attempted to bait the counterprotester” to 
continue the dispute.328 

Around 1:30 p.m., the commander leading the defense efforts at the 
Capitol gave rapid response platoons permission “to deploy their hard 
gear and respond” to the protesters, as their “peaceful assembly” 
transitioned into acts of terrorism. Before departing for the Capitol, 
Hodges “remember[s] hearing over the air confirmation that [an] 
[e]xplosive [o]rdinance . . . team” discovered something: the MPD had 
discovered a bomb near the Capitol.329 

As Hodges and his platoon moved toward the Capitol, he recalls 
the initial verbal resistance turned increasingly aggressive as they 
neared the building.330 They had to march in single file, grabbing each 
other’s shoulders in order to remain a unit. As they approached the 
terrace, their line was divided and they were attacked. Hodges recalled 
protesters continuously attempting to rip the baton from his hands, 
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being told he was on the wrong team and that he would die on his 
knees.331 In ripping protesters off his team members, Hodges was struck 
in the head by an object thrown by a protester who had scaled the 
Capitol’s scaffolding. He believed this was the initial cause of his head 
trauma that day.332  As he continued to fight, the crowd chanted 
“U-S-A.”333 

In recalling the scene, Hodges depicted the wide variety of flags 
that punctuated the seas of people.334 Most were variations of American 
flags or Trump flags. He claims that “the terrorists perceived 
themselves to be Christians”; one flag read “Jesus is my Savior, Trump 
is my President.”335 He saw a “Thin Blue Line flag, a symbol of support 
for law enforcement,” that the terrorists carried even while ignoring 
police commands and continuing to assault the officers. Tear gas and 
pepper spray clouded the air and terrorists threw stolen tear gas 
canisters back at the officers. Hodges later discovered the officers had 
been sprayed “in the face with wasp spray.”336 

According to Hodges, the scene around the Capitol building was a 
labyrinth of combat, “a battle of inches” with both sides pushing and 
fighting to retain their ground.337  Hodges and his colleagues were 
unaware that the terrorists had already gained entrance into the 
building, so they fought with the belief that they were “the last line of 
defense” for elected representatives.338 Just as Hodges gained ground to 
the front line, he lost it. A man with a stolen shield trapped Hodges; 
another seized upon his vulnerable state, grabbed his mask, slammed 
his head against the door, and finally stripped Hodges of his gas mask, 
exposing him to tear gas. He recalled his attacker “foam[ed] at the 
mouth” and later placed his phone in his mouth in order to make both 
hands available. Hodges “screamed for help” and was rescued. He fell 
back to the building, drank water, “decontaminated” his face, and got 
back up and returned to the front line. He believed “every able body 
made a difference.”339 
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As the day wore on, additional resources arrived at the Capitol to 
drive away the terrorists. Hodges and other members of Civil 
Disturbance Unit 42 gathered in the Capitol Crypt, checking on one 
another, grateful to have survived. But the city was not secure enough 
for them to sign off until 1:00 a.m. the next day.340 

F. Officer Harry Dunn Testimony 

During the January 6 insurrection, Officer Harry Dunn, a Black 
man, was serving on the U.S. Capitol Police force. Dunn’s account 
mainly focused on the racial epithets he received after he responded, 
“Well, I voted for Biden . . . . Does my vote not count?” to an 
insurrectionist who claimed that nobody voted for Joe Biden.341 After 
Dunn’s response, a woman yelled, “You hear that, guys, this n—— 
voted for Joe Biden!”342 Then, a crowd of twenty insurrectionists yelled 
at Dunn, “Boo! F—— n——!”343 After the insurrection, Dunn spoke 
with fellow Black officers who shared similar stories of the racial abuse 
they experienced January 6. One insurrectionist told another Black 
officer, “Put your gun down, and we’ll show you what kind of n—— 
you really are!”344 Many of these Black officers had never been called 
the N-word before, including Dunn. The situation and the blatant 
display of racism made Dunn break down in tears later that day.345 He 
is still dealing with the emotional trauma that January 6 inflicted upon 
him as he continues to attend private counseling therapy and peer 
support programs. 

G. Lieutenant Michael Byrd Testimony 

Lieutenant Michael Byrd was serving as a lieutenant for the U.S. 
Capitol Police, the commander for the House chambers section, on 
January 6. Byrd chronologically recounts his perspective on the riot 
and the information he received throughout the insurrection.346 While 
the protest escalated to a riot, Byrd was informed of the chemical 
 
340. Id. 

341. Domenico Montanaro, Capitol Police Officer Testifies to the Racism He 
Faced During the Jan. 6 Riot, NPR, https://www.npr.org/2021/07/27 
/1021197474/capitol-police-officer-testifies-to-the-racism-he-faced-during 
-the-jan-6-riot [https://perma.cc/72S4-PDJZ] (July 27, 2021, 1:32 PM). 

342. Id. 

343. Id. 

344. Id. 

345. Id.; see also Capitol Police Officer Harry Dunn Recounts Emotional 
January 6 Testimony and What Took Him to a “Low Place,” CBS News 
(July 30, 2021, 9:14 AM), https://www.cbsnews.com/news/capitol-police 
-officer-harry-dunn-january-6-attack/ [https://perma.cc/ZMN8-2KAM]. 

346. NBC News, Capitol Police Lt. Michael Byrd Speaks Out, YouTube 
(Aug. 28, 2021), https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2fscQ8PYS-A [https:// 
perma.cc/D39R-2PMP]. 



Case Western Reserve Law Review·Volume 73·Issue 3·2023 

Whiteness as Ideology 

656 

agents and weapons used to assault his fellow officers. The barricade 
that Byrd created, which protected chambers in which members of 
Congress were located, began to be destroyed by rioters.347 

Byrd recounted that as the barricade was brought down, he was 
screaming at rioters to “get back” with a weapon drawn.348 He claimed 
his training encouraged taking a tactical plan; however, he was forced 
to draw his weapon, killing a protester named Ashli Babbitt. While 
Babbitt’s lawyer contended there was no warning prior to the shooting, 
video evidence released later conveyed one of the protesters yelling to 
other participants that officers had their weapons drawn and to stand 
back.349 As such, Byrd claimed he was following policy in giving as much 
warning as he could and yelling to his greatest capacity. He reiterated 
that he yelled so loudly he felt pain in his throat and soreness in 
subsequent days following the attack.350 

Byrd spent countless years training and preparing for a moment 
like that of January 6, though he sincerely hoped it would never 
arrive.351 As the riots escalated, he prepared himself to do the job that 
was required of him. He knew he saved countless lives that day, as 
members of Congress and other members of staff were in danger. Byrd 
said he enjoyed serving as a law enforcement officer, and he greatly 
admired those he protects.352  He testified that when he pulled the 
trigger, shooting and killing Ashli Babbitt, he did so out of last resort. 
Prior, he had prayed no one would be able to walk through the doors, 
but in Babbitt’s failure to comply, he had to fire to save his people. He 
only later found out Babbitt did not carry a weapon; however, he could 
not see her hands or the contents of her bag, and he had no way of 
knowing her intentions.353 He stuck with what he knew: the violent 
intentions that had led up to that very moment. Thus, he claimed that 
according to law, it does not matter that Babbitt was unarmed and 
based on his training, his actions were appropriate.354 After he fired his 
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gun, the threat subsided; no other protesters attempted to enter. Byrd 
shared that he did not stay with the subject. Instead, he stuck with his 
responsibility and attended to the safety of members of Congress and 
provide them a safe exit route.355 

In the months following the insurrection, some Americans have 
elevated Ashli Babbitt’s status to a martyr. When asked to comment 
on this, Byrd stated that many were injured that day, several passed 
away, and his heart goes out to everyone who was injured or died, and 
their loved ones who feel the suffering of their losses.356 Though many 
other officers did not take the same actions as Byrd, Byrd described 
that his circumstance is terrifying for any person in his position, but 
ultimately, he can only attest to his reaction, his training, and his 
expertise—he cannot speak for those who did not shoot, why they did 
or did not, or whether they should have.357 

As Byrd’s name circulated the media, Trump claimed Babbitt was 
murdered, and Byrd claimed that hearing Trump’s statement was 
“disheartening.”358  Byrd had “spent countless hours, days, months 
doing threat analysis, evaluations, attending briefings, walkthroughs, 
escorts, [and] coordinating with [the] secret service” to protect Trump. 
Still, despite Trump’s backlash, Byrd said he would take the same level 
of action to protect Trump. “It’s my job,” Byrd asserted.359 Byrd stated 
that from his perspective, if Trump is a leader of the country, he 
deserves the same protection as Congress, the Speaker, staffers, current 
Presidents, or reporters, reiterating that it is his job to provide safety 
and security. 

Byrd told the committee that life following January 6 had been 
turbulent, and he teared up when accounting the various ways his 
livelihood has changed.360 In his opinion, his current state of life “is not 
appropriate for [a person] who risked [their own] life to save” those who 
“make the laws and rules” of his country.361 In recent months, he has 
been working with multiple counselors, and he admits to extreme 
emotional outbursts and psychological distress. He was faced with an 
impossible decision under unfortunate circumstances, and in his 
opinion, he had the courage and mental fortitude to follow through with 
his training. In the face of accusations and political motives, Byrd 
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commented he does his job for anyone—Democrats, Republicans, Black, 
white, red, or blue—he has no political affiliation in his occupation.362 

Byrd said that even after taking time off, he experienced distress 
returning to work and immense sadness in losing many “colleagues to 
death by suicide.”363 For many years, he saw himself to be a “proud, 
dedicated, . . . and loyal employee” of the U.S. Capitol Police. He 
previously looked forward to his job and felt “blessed” to be a part of 
any form of history on the chamber floor. Byrd now admits his fear. He 
recognizes those who disagree with his actions but wants them to 
understand he did his job: there were immense and “imminent threats 
and danger to the members of Congress.”364 He “want[s] the truth to be 
told,” as he believes there is “a lot of misrepresentation[]” in what 
people want to say versus what they do not understand.365 

III. Trump and the Death Throes of White Supremacy 

Republicans show strong support for law and order and law 
enforcement as well as opposition to individuals they believe pose a 
threat to the United States—foreign and domestic. However, they have 
largely tended to reject those sentiments with respect to the January 6 
insurrection. In a poll conducted by YouGov US of 1,448 registered 
voters, including 1,397 who knew about the events at the Capitol, 
93 percent of Democrats perceived the January 6 insurrection as a 
threat to democracy, and 55 percent of independents agreed. However, 
among Republicans, only 27 percent saw the insurrection as a threat to 
democracy, with 68 percent saying the opposite.366  In fact, while 
43 percent of Republicans expressed opposition to the insurrectionists’ 
actions, 45 percent of Republicans still actively supported their 
actions.367 “While 59% of voters who [were] aware of the events at the 
Capitol [saw] them as . . . more violent than more peaceful [], the 
opposite is true of Republicans.” Most Republicans saw the activities 
at the Capitol “as more peaceful [(58 percent)] than more violent 
[(22 percent)].”368 

With respect to who was to blame for what took place at the 
Capitol on January 6, “[a] majority (55%) sa[id] that President Trump 
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is ‘a great deal to blame[,]’ . . . with another 11% saying he is 
‘somewhat to blame.’”369  Forty-two percent were also reported as 
believing that “[c]ongressional Republicans who said . . . they would 
vote against [certification of] the election results [were] ‘a great deal to 
blame,’” while 20 percent thought they were only “somewhat to 
blame.”370 And while few believed then President-elect Biden was to 
blame a great deal (17 percent) or somewhat to blame (9 percent), 
Republicans saw Biden as “the biggest culprit” at 52 percent—
compared to Donald Trump (28 percent) and congressional Republicans 
who did not want to certify the election results (26 percent).371 Though 
50 percent of voters believed that Vice President Pence should have 
invoked the Twenty-Fifth Amendment and removed Trump from office, 
42 percent believed that this would have been “inappropriate.” 
“Republicans (85%) [were] especially likely to say . . . [removal of 
Trump from office] would be inappropriate.”372 When it came to labels, 
Democrats were more likely to use the labels “[e]xtremist” (74 percent 
compared to 26 percent for Republicans), “[d]omestic terrorists” 
(78 percent compared to 17 percent for Republicans), “[c]riminals” 
(63 percent compared to 16 percent for Republicans), “[a]nti-
democratic” (65 percent compared to 12 percent for Republicans), and 
“[l]ooters” (25 percent compared to 6 percent for Republicans). 
Republicans were more likely to use the labels “[p]rotestors” (50 percent 
compared to 28 percent for Democrats) and “[p]atriots” (30 percent 
compared to 2 percent for Democrats).373 

In this Part, I argue that despite Trump’s efforts to flout the rule 
of law and his disregard for law enforcement, many Republicans still 
embrace him. They do so because of racial attitudes and sentiments—
some about who they perceive as individuals who constitute true threats 
to America and some because of what Trump symbolizes vis-à-vis white 
power/supremacy. And lastly, given Trump’s racialized meaning to 
them, many are willing to kill and die to protect and defend him. 

A. Trump: Deception and Yet Devotion 

While there are a variety of types of Trump supporters, the great 
majority are devoted to him. I offer the January 6 hearing testimony of 
Stephen Ayres to highlight this commitment. Next, I offer some insight 
into the psychology of why Trump supporters believe whatever they 
need to believe to remain loyal to him. 
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1. A Typology of Trump Supporters 

There is no one type of Trump supporter, however. Dr. Emily Ekins 
of the Cato Institute completed a thorough study on the types of Trump 
supporters, crumbling the opinion that there is just one group that gives 
him their vote. The five different groups, from largest to smallest, 
include: “Staunch Conservatives” (31 percent), “Free Marketeers” 
(25 percent), “American Preservationists” (20 percent), “Anti-Elites” 
(19 percent), and “The Disengaged” (5 percent).374 

“Staunch Conservatives” are fiscal conservatives, morally 
traditional, and politically well educated.375  They “embrace moral 
traditionalism, and have a moderately nativist conception of American 
identity and approach to immigration.”376 Staunch Conservatives tend 
to believe “that discrimination against white[s] . . . is a major 
problem.”377  On economic issues, Staunch Conservatives oppose 
business regulation, tax increases for the wealthy, and government-
provided health care. They trust the system and do not believe it is 
“rigged.” Staunch Conservatives also have traditional conservative 
perspectives “on the environment and [other] cultural issues like same-
sex marriage.”378 

“Free Marketeers” are fiscal conservatives in favor of small 
government; they believe in free trade and tend to have positions on 
immigration and race ranging from moderate to liberal.379 They tended 
to vote against Hillary Clinton in 2016 as opposed to voting for Trump. 
“Although they are [] loyal Republican vot[ers] . . . , Free Marketeers 
are the [group] most skeptical of Trump.” They tend to be male and 
middle-aged, and more likely to possess the trappings of financial 
security (such as working full time jobs, owning homes, and having 
private health insurance). They are a “more cosmopolitan” group and 
are the most likely to know members of the LGBT community. Being 
the most educated of the groups, Free Marketeers are among the most 
informed and politically engaged groups of voters.380 

“American Preservationists” are typically “economically 
progressive, believe [that] economic and political systems are rigged,” 
and harbor nativist views on immigration and “ethnocultural 
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[understandings] of American identity.”381 American Preservationists 
have “the lowest incomes of [all] the Trump groups.” Additionally, they 
have lower levels of formal education and are the least politically 
informed. They seem to want to associate with people who share 
“similar backgrounds and cultural experiences” as their own. American 
Preservationists tend to have a strong sense of their racial and religious 
identity (white and Christian, respectively). “They take the most 
restricti[ve] approach to immigration” among the Trump groups and 
“staunchly” oppose both legal and illegal immigration—especially of 
Muslims. American Preservationists register “the greatest amount of 
angst [about] race relations,” believing in a pervasiveness of antiwhite 
discrimination, and they have fairly negative attitudes toward ethnic, 
racial, and religious minorities.382 

Like American Preservationists, “Anti-Elites” tend to be 
economically progressive and believe the political and economic systems 
are rigged, but they take “more moderate positions on immigration, 
race, and American identity than American Preservationists.”383 Anti-
Elites have “relatively cooler” attitudes toward Trump, with “nearly 
half [having] favorable opinions of Clinton in 2012.” But this group had 
the most dramatic shift against Clinton by the 2016 presidential 
election. They are “middle-class voters [who have obtained] moderate 
levels of education,” and they tend to be marginally younger than 
members of the other Trump groups. Anti-Elites are the least likely of 
the groups to own a gun, attend church, or be politically informed. 
They think that political elites and those with money use the system 
to take advantage of ordinary Americans, so they support tax hikes on 
the wealthy. They tend to have more moderate positions on the 
environment, American identity, immigration, and religious 
traditionalism (such as attitudes about gay marriage) than American 
Preservationists.384 

“The Disengaged” are uneducated about politics and “feel detached 
from institutions.”385 This group skews younger, is more female, and 
lacks religious affiliations. The Disengaged believe they cannot 
“influence political and economic institutions and believe the system is 
biased against them.”386 Trump supporters, on average, do not see 
themselves as having racist views. When asked whether it is important 
to be of European descent to be “truly American,” 47 percent of 
American Preservationists, 25 percent of Staunch Conservatives, 
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14 percent of Anti-Elites, 2 percent of Free Marketeers, and 1 percent 
of The Disengaged agreed.387 When asked whether it was important to 
accept people of different religious and racial backgrounds in order to 
be truly American, 88 percent of Free Marketeers, 86 percent of Anti-
Elites, 69 percent of American Preservationists and Staunch 
Conservatives, and 46 percent of The Disengaged agreed that it was 
important.388 

2. MAGA World’s Undying Loyalty to Trump 

Due to Trump’s two impeachment trials, the actions surrounding 
the events of January 6, and the hostile transfer of power to Biden, 
many question why Trump supporters continue to stand by him and 
hope he will run for President in 2024. Scholars recognize that Trump’s 
straightforward opinions, compelling narrative to “Make America Great 
Again,” and declaration that he is the leader America needs to 
reestablish the “land of the free” and “home of the brave’s” prominent 
reputation draw his supporters in and keep them close.389 

Trump declared himself a leader from the beginning of his political 
career; he named himself a “genius” who would turn Washington 
around.390 He dove into politics stating his plan to save the common 
person, and many heard and accepted this promise, proving 
psychologists’ findings that people support those who listen to them 
and promise to fight for them.391 A small-business owner from the 
Midwest declared his stance with Trump stating that he sees Trump 
fight for the common person every day, unlike any other Republican 
politician.392 Republicans want someone in office who will push against 
the Democrats and fight for the “American” person, as many believe 
Trump proved to do during his four years in office. His supporters see 
him as a leader who does not succumb to the political institution they 
believe has abandoned them in the past. 
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Trump publicizes his goal to “Make America Great Again” and 
turn the government around; hence, Americans who disapprove of the 
activity within the institution will likely hand their vote to Trump.393 
Additionally, scholars refer to the social identity theory, stating that 
people are loyal to “arbitrary groups,” to explain his immense 
support.394 Thus, people will find leaders they can identify with and will 
continue to support the leader throughout their career.395 Trump speaks 
directly to individuals’ “values and insecurities” to draw them in.396 
Additionally, psychologists analyzing Trump explain his supporters by 
describing how people like others who can talk an extensive narrative 
and make their problems seem simple to solve.397 Even if the stories and 
guarantees made by Trump never transpire, they are still appealing to 
the voters; thus, he receives the votes.398 

During his many rallies across the country, Trump becomes a 
performer. He is theatrical and brings the large crowds in with chants 
such as “Let’s Go Brandon,” “MAGA,” and “Go Trump.”399 The rallies 
bring in thousands nationwide, some so desperate to ensure their spot 
they camp outside days in advance.400 Countless people view Trump as 
their savior, “sent by God to save this country.”401  Furthermore, 
56 percent of Republicans agree that part of the QAnon conspiracies 
are true, and Trump shows his alliance by retweeting the QAnon 
communications.402 Trump supporters enjoy his rallies, where they feel 
surrounded by those who share similar characteristics (proving the 
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social identity theory), and those who believe in the QAnon conspiracy 
theory stand alongside Trump as they see him as their savior. 

Trump is notorious for his lack of filter. While many believe he 
should learn to control himself (Twitter showed this when banning 
Trump from his account), his supporters find comfort in knowing they 
are getting Trump’s true self. He is not afraid to share his opinions, and 
his voters feel they are getting a genuine person who shares his true 
beliefs. Social media amplifies his unfiltered voice, allowing him to share 
his thoughts at any moment rather than solely at press conferences or 
other publicized events. While this has proved to push people away 
from Trump, his supporters find comfort in feeling they receive constant 
communication from him, even if it what was communicated may not 
have been correct or necessary to say.403 

During Trump’s presidency and to the present day, many have 
resented his actions and policies; however, groups continue to prove 
their loyalty. In a survey of a thousand individuals who voted for 
Trump in the 2020 election, 54 percent stated they have more loyalty 
to Trump than the Republican Party.404 Furthermore, in a Suffolk 
University and USA Today poll, 85 percent of Trump’s supporters 
indicated they would vote for him if he were the GOP nominee.405 
Trump continues to be one of the most powerful political candidates; 
polls show he will likely be a frontrunner in the 2024 presidential 
election. His campaign team has announced that they have raised 
$122 million for 2022.406 

3. Blind Followers: The Case of Stephen Ayres 

Stephen Ayres, a former Trump supporter, was present in the mob 
on January 6.407 He listened to Trump encourage his supporters to 
march to the Capitol and did the same. In January 2023, he pleaded 
guilty to disorderly and disruptive conduct for his actions at the 
Capitol. In his testimony, he claimed he was a “family man and working 
man” and an “ordinary American citizen.”408 He stated that he decided 
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to come to the Capitol on January 6 because he was very active on 
social media. He believed that Trump’s message on social media told 
him to come to the rally and be involved in the activities of the day.409 
At the time, he believed the election had been stolen, as that is what 
he saw online from Trump. Now, he has done his own research and 
stepped away from social media.410 He realized it would not be possible 
to steal an election of this size. He stated that had he known Trump 
had “no evidence of widespread fraud,” he would have acted 
differently.411 

Ayres stated that he was not planning on going to the Capitol the 
morning of the sixth, he just planned to attend the Stop the Steal 
Rally.412 At the Stop the Steal Rally, Trump “got everybody riled up 
and told everybody to head on down [to the Capitol].”413 The rally had 
made Ayres angry and had worked up most people in the crowd. Ayres 
also believed that Trump would be marching with him. He stated that, 
“[The President] said it in his speech, you know, kind of like he’s going 
to be there with us.”414 Ayres did not leave the Capitol mob until 
Trump put his tweet out at 4:17 p.m. When asked when he left, Ayres 
replied, “We literally left right after [the tweet] come out. You know, 
to me if he would have done this earlier in the day, 1:30 . . . maybe we 
wouldn’t be in this bad of a situation.”415 The tweet dispersed the crowd 
a lot. Ayres highlighted that the key reason he left, as well as why 
others left, was Trump telling people to go home. 

Ayres lost everything due to the rally on January 6. He lost his job 
and his house.416 It changed his life for the worse. At the time of the 
hearing, he was angry that Trump still promoted lies about the election. 
He believed it could cause the next election to have similar violent 
events. He warned Americans to “take the[ir] blinders off” before it is 
too late and do their own research.417 This testimony provides evidence 
that Donald Trump’s December 19 tweet summoned both extremist 
groups and average supporters of Trump to Washington, D.C., on 
January 6,418 including average Americans like Ayres. It also shows that 
had Trump condoned the violence earlier, it is likely the devastation 
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would have been much more limited. It also implies that even today, 
Trump is spreading false accusations that many Americans still believe. 

4. MAGA World and Trump’s Lies 

Disinformation is a chief factor in Trump supporters’ inability to 
appreciate his efforts in undermining the 2020 presidential election. The 
“continued influence effect” explains that disinformation can continue 
to influence one’s memory and reasoning even after being corrected.419 
More significant is Trump supporters’ clinging to lies and rejecting or 
ignoring truths that might augment their perceptions on Trump’s role 
in undermining our democracy. “Motivated cognition” also explains this 
phenomenon. Motivated cognition is when an individual ties their 
values and emotions to information such that the way that information 
is processed can be affected.420 Biased and exaggerated attention is 
given to “belief-congruent information” because it helps protect one’s 
identity, while information counter to a person’s beliefs is likely to be 
disregarded.421 For example, in a climate of increasing polarization, 
members of American political parties have increasingly interlaced their 
identity with their party.422  In the 2020 presidential election, this 
resulted in Republicans feeling connected to Trump’s claims of election 
fraud because their party, and similarly their identity, was being 
threatened. As a result, truths collected from data presented by the 
media and Democrats were ignored by Republicans because they 
countered the emotional misinformation they processed and connected 
to their identity. 

Additionally, evidence that Trump lied about his election fraud 
claims may have pushed Republicans to form stronger beliefs in 
Trump’s election lies. According to a concept called the “world-view 
backfire effect,” after receiving information that discredits their 
ideologies, individuals feel the need to “defend their belief system[s]” 
and may end up forming a “stronger belief in their original 
misconceptions.”423  For example, many Republicans consider media 
outlets reporting on the falsehoods of Trump’s lies as further proof of 
election fraud. Therefore, while it may appear that Republicans are 
ignoring the truth that Trump was undermining the 2020 election and 
making false claims about it, they may be taking it as proof of election 
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fraud. Consider that people often turn to news sources that support 
their thoughts. Due to this, one will often lack the knowledge from the 
opposing opinion, never gaining the ability to counter their own 
opinion. Similarly, Trump supporters turn to news sources that also 
support Trump, undermining their ability to contradict their own 
opinion. A survey taken in 2016 found that 58 percent of Trump voters 
turn to Fox News, a Republican and Trump-supporting network, as 
their most trusted news source.424 

While the way misinformation is processed can help explain why 
Republicans have ignored Trump’s efforts to undermine the 2020 
election and his lies, the science behind lying and rhetoric also helps 
answer this question. In 2016, Maurice Schweitzer and Jeremy Yip 
conducted a study where they evoked different emotions in participants 
and had them engage in a series of games in which they were given 
opportunities to lie for their advantage.425 Their study revealed that 
participants who were provoked to feel angry were more likely to lie in 
the games.426  This indicated that people experiencing anger pay 
particular attention to their self-interest.427 In the aftermath of the 2020 
election, Republicans were angered by the election’s outcome. Trump 
fueled this anger with violent language, falsely suggesting the election 
was stolen and that major institutions were out to get them. To Trump 
and the political Right, these lies were a valuable tool to defend their 
party against their enemy, the political left, and a way to regain 
presidential power and further their agenda. So, although Republicans 
were aware of the truth behind Trump’s false claims, their anger drove 
them to act in their self-interest and support his lies regardless of 
whether they believed them accurate.428 

B. MAGA, Ideology, and Race 

An individual’s personal ideology correlates with many aspects of 
their life—personality, personal beliefs, and family history and 
background. It is no surprise that how a person thinks, and the factors 
that directly impact that, can serve as predictors of actions and 
mindset. Specifically, political attitudes, implicit and explicit biases, 
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and racial ideologies all can be impacted by cognitive factors.429 This is 
important when studying prejudices and focusing on how they are 
formed and are continued through generations. Certain mindsets have 
been found to be correlated with racial prejudice, bias, and closed-
mindedness. 

For example, one study found that “the effects of dominance and 
authoritarianism on modern racism attitudes . . . [were moderated by 
individuals’] color-blind racial attitudes.”430 These results demonstrate 
how ideologies can influence individuals’ beliefs about race. This then 
influences and can help predict individual levels of “modern racism”—
“a contemporary form of [racial] prejudice . . . that is expressed 
indirectly and covertly, typically by condemning the cultural values of 
the outgroup or by experiencing aversive emotions when interacting 
with its members but not acting on those negative emotions.”431 In 
particular, color-blind racial beliefs also affect “modern racism attitudes 
among white individuals,” as they work alongside social dominance 
orientation (SDO) and right-wing authoritarianism (RWA).432 
Specifically, individuals’ scores on SDO and RWA are mediators for 
prejudice and conservatism. The single most important determinant of 
authoritarian-based conservatism and racism is a preference for 
predictability and order.433  Notably, RWA is related to cultural 
conservatism,434 as well as blatant and subtle prejudice.435 On the other 
hand, SDO is associated with only blatant prejudice. Moreover, RWA 
helps predict which form an individual’s racism would take.436 

Not surprisingly, the 2016 election saw a dramatic polarization 
between educated and uneducated white voters. This gap was primarily 
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a result of sexist and racist ideology, rather than of economic 
dissatisfaction.437 Another study examined trends in national and local 
levels of reported hate crimes from 1992 to 2017 and found that 
Trump’s election led to a statistically significant rise in the number of 
reported hate crimes across the United States. This study controlled for 
other possible explanations, including an increase in terrorism after the 
rise in hate crimes following the September 11 attacks. The authors 
concluded that not only were hate crimes galvanized by Trump’s 
inflammatory political rhetoric throughout his campaign, but they were 
also motivated by the perceived validation of that rhetoric once he was 
elected to office. This validation was key to incentivizing an increase in 
bias and the resulting bias-based offenses.438 The American Defamation 
League found that counties that hosted a Trump rally during the 2016 
election saw a resulting 26 percent increase in hate crimes in the 
subsequent months.439 A 2020 Pew Research Center study found that 
during the 2020 election cycle, differences in political views between 
parties were worse than they were in 2016. Race and gender are the 
two categories where these divisions were the widest.440 

As it relates to the intersection of the rule of law/law and order 
and policing, when the United States has come under attack, 
Republicans, more so than Democrats, have tended to develop harsher 
attitudes toward individuals of different races or religions and perceive 
them as a threat. Between 2002 and 2003, following the September 11, 
2001 terrorist attacks, attitudes toward Muslim Americans became less 
favorable than they had been and more partisan.441 In 2011, ten years 
after the September 11 attacks, 63 percent of Republicans believed that 
the values of Islam did not align with American values, while 55 percent 
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of Democrats disagreed.442 Today, 72 percent of Republicans believe 
Islam is more likely to encourage violence among its members than any 
other religion, compared to 32 percent of Democrats.443 

Even when the perceived threat is internal to the United States, 
Republicans have tended to develop harsher attitudes to those 
perceived as a threat compared to Democrats. In light of George Floyd’s 
murder at the hands of Minneapolis police, protests erupted all over the 
world.444 The protests created a wave of support among Americans for 
the BLM movement but almost entirely among Democrats.445 And while 
most white Democrats (92 percent) expressed support for BLM in a 
June 2020 Pew Research Center poll, only 37 percent of white 
Republicans did.446 In fact, most Republicans (82 percent) thought that 
some people were taking advantage of Mr. Floyd’s murder “to engage 
in criminal behavior” whereas only 39 percent of Democrats believed 
the same.447 Polled individuals held this viewpoint despite the fact that 
the protests were overwhelmingly peaceful with few arrests.448 

Race has long played a central role in how “law and order” and 
policing have been viewed in the United States, especially on the 
political Right. Law and order and policing have been embraced by the 
political Right when the perceived, or conjured, threat has been people 
of color. President Nixon used coded appeals like “law and order” as 
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the centerpiece of his Southern Strategy.449 “[A]n internal memo from 
[President] Nixon’s 1968 campaign, later made public by his 
presidential library, suggests an intent to harness racial division.”450 
According to campaign strategist Kevin Phillips, Nixon’s campaign 
knew that “[d]rawing conservative Democrats to the GOP ticket would 
turn on ‘the law and order/Negro socio-economic revolution 
syndrome,’” so he argued that “Nixon ‘should continue to emphasize 
crime, decentralization of federal social programming, and law and 
order.’”451 Lee Atwater, an advisor to Nixon and President George H.W. 
Bush, explained how covert racial appeals were used during his time as 
a member of President Reagan’s White House staff: 

You start in 1954 by saying “N[——], n[——], n[——].” By 1968 
you can’t say “N[——].” That hurts you. It backfires. So you say 
stuff like forced busing, states rights and all that stuff and you 
get so abstract. Now you talk about cutting taxes and these things 
you’re talking about are totally economic things and a byproduct 
of them is, blacks get hurt worse than whites. And subconsciously 
maybe that’s part of it. I’m not saying that. But I’m saying that 
if it is getting that abstract and that coded, we are doing away 
with the racial problem one way or the other. Obviously sitting 
around saying we want to cut taxes and we want this, is a lot 
more abstract than even the busing thing and a hell of a lot more 
abstract than n[——] n[——]. So anyway you look at it, race is 
coming on the back burner.452 

Not surprisingly, if many politically conservative whites associate 
crime with people of color, “[a]nti-black attitudes reflected in traditional 
prejudice and racial resentment [correlate with] white support for police 
use of force and perception of police misconduct.”453 In the context of 
Trump’s actions in and around January 6, what this means is that 
Republicans, especially those who are white, believe in law and order 
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and support police when the former is applied to Black bodies and when 
the latter are policing those bodies. But when threats to the rule of law 
and law enforcement are white people, the same type of outrage is not 
evoked among white political conservatives. 

C. Political Violence, January 6, and the Ends Justifying the Means454 

After the January 6 insurrection, the issue of political violence rose 
to the forefront of the modern political landscape. It became clear to 
media observers that violence in the name of political goals was more 
likely than ever to be seen as necessary for the accomplishment of those 
goals. Much of this support has come from the Republican Party, 
especially when compared to independents and Democrats. In the vein 
of “protect[ing] America” via the power of the people to act in place of 
their elected leaders, 39 percent of Republicans found themselves 
agreeing with the belief, although not necessarily the “disposition,” of 
using violence in these situations.455 White evangelicals, a strong base 
of support for the Republican Party and specifically Trump, stood out 
for their belief that violence may be necessary to resolve many of these 
political problems.456 Senses of patriotism and nationalism also motivate 
one’s propensity for accepting violence; the Public Religion Research 
Institute found that 30 percent of Republicans believe that “because 
things have gotten so far off track, true American patriots may have to 
resort to violence in order to save our country.”457 This is almost three 
times as large as the proportion of Democrats who agree with the 
statement (11 percent).458 

Much of this propensity for violence that pollsters are encountering 
comes from the rhetoric of Republican Party congresspeople and 
leaders. While shortly after January 6, Republican leadership uniformly 
condemned the actions of the protesters who stormed the Capitol, 
“some leading Republicans have been backsliding” and have since 
excused the violence or attested that the level of violence was overstated 
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in the media.459 Trump’s own rhetoric has encouraged the protesters to 
use violence, with words like “liberate” and phrases like “if you don’t 
fight like hell you’re not going to have a country anymore” that seem 
to encourage violence in the political sphere to accomplish goals like 
preserving the traditional American way of life.460 The GOP, therefore, 
“can’t risk alienating loyal supporters, even if they embrace violence,” 
putting them in a tough situation as a party seeking to utilize Trump’s 
fervent support while simultaneously questioning their actions and 
ethics at the Capitol.461  Furthermore, the Republican Party has 
elevated the positions of those with more radically conservative views 
on the 2020 election winner over those who reject such perspectives and 
belong to more moderate, and therefore less violent, factions.462 

During the January 6 hearings, texts between former campaign 
manager Brad Parscale and former Trump adviser Katrina Pierson 
revealed Parscale calling Trump’s actions at the rally “a sitting 
president asking for a civil war.”463 Following the attack, other members 
of the GOP made statements about the beginning of a civil war, 
including a Facebook post by Phil Reynolds, a member of the central 
GOP committee in Santa Clara, which read, “The war has begun. 
Citizens take arms! Drumroll please . . . Civil War or No Civil War?”464 
Georgia Representative Marjorie Taylor-Greene (Republican) has 
advocated for Republicans to use the freedoms granted by the Second 
Amendment to protect themselves against the Democratic government, 
while also suggesting a “national divorce” similar to the secession 
culminating in the U.S. Civil War in 1860.465 
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According to 2021 survey data, 46 percent of Americans believe a 
future U.S. civil war is likely.466 Another survey found that about one 
in three Republicans believe it may be necessary for U.S. citizens to 
take up arms against their government.467 Researchers point to several 
factors in the current sociopolitical climate that may explain the belief 
in an impending conflict. Factors include the multitude of “hot-button” 
cultural issues, such as gun control, abortion, election legitimacy, 
climate change, the pandemic, and racial inequality, which induce high 
levels of polarization and hostility toward opposing groups.468 Other 
factors include America’s winner-take-all electoral system, which may 
encourage individuals to look beyond democratic methods to achieve 
political goals.469 Such was the case with the January 6 attack on the 
Capitol, motivated by outrage at the results of the 2020 election.470 
With high levels of polarization come high levels of distrust for members 
of the opposing party and a lack of faith in the current political 
system.471  Researchers from the University of Chicago found that 
73 percent of Republicans view Democrats as “bullies” who force their 
political beliefs on everyone.472 Approximately 66 percent of Republi-
cans “believe that the government is . . . ‘corrupt’ against people like 
them.”473 

1. White Supremacist Groups and Trump 

Talk of the impending civil war is common among far-Right groups, 
including the large number of private militias that exist throughout the 
country. These militias are often comprised of white, Republican men, 
particularly those who have been radicalized by far-Right rhetoric.474 
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Militias are trained for violent confrontation and their members often 
own firearms.475 In addition to high numbers of private militias, the 
United States also has a uniquely high number of privately owned 
firearms, and Republicans are more than twice as likely to own a gun 
as Democrats.476 

Trump and his supporters have a long history of being associated 
with white supremacy. Trump’s “America First” slogan conspicuously 
matches the old KKK phrase “America First. One God. One Country. 
One Flag.”477 Given that Trump’s platform is built upon similar beliefs 
to the KKK, it is not surprising that the KKK’s paper endorsed Trump 
for president. The former leader of the KKK, David Duke, has also 
personally vouched for Trump. Duke claimed that Trump shares his 
“ideas of preserving this country and the heritage of this country.”478 
While Trump has since rejected Duke’s and the KKK’s support, he did 
not immediately disavow them when asked point blank by a reporter 
“[w]ould you just say unequivocally you condemn them and don’t want 
their support?” Instead, Trump said he would “have to look at the 
group,” claiming he was not familiar with it.479 

During his presidency, 56 percent of Americans felt that Trump did 
not do enough to distance himself from white nationalists.480 A lot of 
events have led to this entanglement of Trump and white supremacist 
groups. Nearly seven months after Trump’s inauguration, violence at 
the hands of white supremacists had hit a peak in the United States. 
On August 12, 2017, in Charlottesville, Virginia, “hundreds of white 
nationalists, neo-Nazis, [and] militia groups” came together to protest 
the city’s plans to remove a statue of Robert E. Lee in what became 
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known as the Unite the Right Rally.481 At the rally, Heather Heyer, a 
local paralegal and activist, was murdered when she was intentionally 
hit by a car.482 Rather than speaking out against the actions of various 
white supremacist groups in attendance, Trump said that there were 
some “very fine people”483 at the event. The organizer of the original 
Unite the Right Rally, Jason Kessler, has been named in a variety of 
lawsuits since the original event. However, Kessler has faced no serious 
legal consequences.484  Later on, President Biden said that he was 
encouraged to run for President due to the actions that took place in 
Charlottesville.485 

As Trump was running for reelection, he continued spreading white 
supremacist sentiments. During a presidential debate, Trump refused 
to denounce a large white supremacist group. Instead of speaking out 
against the actions of the far-Right hate group, Trump told the 
members to “stand back and stand by.”486 This quote was interpreted 
as praise for the group instead of admonishment. The group viewed 
Trump’s quote as “historic” and used it to increase membership.487 

2. Nick Quested June 9 Testimony 

Nick Quested, an award-winning documentary filmmaker and 
producer, offered testimony based on his insights from being embedded 
with the Proud Boys, a far-Right organization involved in the 
January 6 attack.488 The Proud Boys are a far-Right terror organization 
that is known for their involvement in different violent political 
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incidents.489 On January 6, 2021, members of this terror group forcefully 
broke into the Capitol building. Their main goal was to stop a joint 
session of Congress that would count the 2020 election electoral votes 
and confirm Joe Biden as the next President of the United States. They 
were joined by another extremist group known as the Oath Keepers. 
The DOJ deemed the Proud Boys responsible for violently breaking 
into the Capitol and wreaking havoc on January 6. Some members of 
both the Proud Boys and the Oath Keepers have already pleaded guilty 
to charges regarding their role in the January 6 attack.490 

According to Quested’s footage, the Proud Boys felt they were 
called to action by President Donald Trump when he said in a debate 
that they should “stand back and stand by.”491 After this comment, the 
then chairman of the Proud Boys put on a social media platform, 
Parler, that they were “standing by, sir.”492 After the Proud Boys were 
called to action by Trump, their membership tripled.493 In a later tweet 
by Trump, he asked his supporters to be in Washington, D.C., on 
January 6 for something wild. The Proud Boys understood this tweet 
to be instructions for them and started planning for January 6. They 
created a chat called the “Ministry of Self-defense Leadership Chat,’’ in 
which they made a leadership hierarchy for their upcoming trip to 
D.C.494 At some point during planning for the insurrection, the current 
chairman of the Proud Boys, Enrique Tarrio, came to possess a 
document called the 1776 Returns, which detailed where high-ranking 
people were located throughout the U.S. Capitol.495 

On January 5, Tarrio was bailed out from jail, where he had been 
booked for burning a BLM flag from a church and carrying gun 
magazines. After he left the jail, he met up with a top member of the 
Oath Keepers. Since all the hotels were full in D.C., Tarrio ended up 
going to a hotel in Virginia. At this point, Tarrio was interviewed by 
Nick Quested about the Proud Boys. The next day, at 10:30 a.m., a 
group of around 300 Proud Boys led by Joseph Biggs started to go 
down the Mall and head toward the Capitol. As they were walking, 
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they yelled, “USA,” “Whose streets? Our streets,” and “Something’s 
going to happen.”496  They did not encounter many Capitol Police 
during their walk down the Mall. Instead, they only saw “one sole police 
officer at the barriers” and “a tactical unit preparing.”497 With the 
officers they did run into, the Proud Boys told them that they were on 
their side, but that they were willing to act against them if they needed 
to. Due to the Proud Boys charging toward the Capitol, the Capitol 
Police gave a riot warning.498 

At around 1:00 p.m., the Proud Boys started to enter the Capitol 
building. The Proud Boys attack was carefully timed to begin right 
after President Donald Trump’s speech and right as Congress began 
their joint session. At some point during the march toward the Capitol 
and making it to the building, a group of Proud Boys from Arizona 
joined the group. They were wearing orange hats and armbands. When 
the group of Proud Boys from Arizona joined, the chants changed to 
“F-U-C-K Antifa” and directed-question chants meant to vilify the 
Capitol Police.499  Biggs was using a microphone or megaphone to 
amplify his voice. The attack took a violent turn when they neared the 
peace circle and reached the bike racks barricading the Capitol building. 
Ryan Samsel started speaking to Joseph Biggs. After they spoke, the 
two men approached the barricades and started attempting to remove 
them. At one point, they caused a barricade to hit a Capitol Police 
member, Officer Edwards, and caused her to “black[] out.”500 A little 
while after this point, other rioters had gathered at the Lower West 
Terrace, where they sprayed officers in the eyes to try and get into the 
Capitol building.501 Ultimately, the Proud Boys felt that their actions 
were justified, given that they were “invited by the President.”502 
Afterward, they felt disappointed that Trump did not join them during 
the insurrection.503 

3. Jason Van Tatenhove July 12 Testimony 

Jason Van Tatenhove is a former spokesman of the Oath Keepers 
as well as a former close associate of Elmer Stewart Rhodes, the founder 
and president of the Oath Keepers.504 The Oath Keepers are “extremists 
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who promote a wide range of conspiracy theories” and tried “to act as 
a private paramilitary force for Donald Trump.”505  The DOJ has 
charged Rhodes with seditious conspiracy to overthrow the government 
of the United States during the mob on January 6. Trump’s      
December 19 tweet motivated this extremist group, and his presence 
overall on social media riled up the members of this group. Recently, 
Tatenhove has cut ties with the Oath Keepers and since then has 
spoken out against the violent group.506 

Tatenhove testified about his time with the Oath Keepers.507 It 
began at Bundy Ranch, where he went to cover the group as an 
independent journalist. He then covered two more standoffs and was 
later offered a job as a national media director and associate editor for 
the Oath Keepers’ web page. He became very close with Rhodes and 
gained a lot of insider knowledge about the organization. When asked 
to explain who the Oath Keepers are, Tatenhove explained that while 
the group does not call themselves a militia, he believes they are a 
violent militia. He references the stacked military formation they used 
while going up the stairs of the Capitol on January 6. He believes they 
are “a very dangerous organization.”508 During his time with the Oath 
Keepers, the member base and Rhodes drifted further and further Right 
into white nationalism. When asked what the Oath Keepers’ vision is 
for America, Tatenhove replied that it includes violence and trying to 
get their way through any means necessary.509 Tatenhove also described 
his reasoning for leaving the organization. His breaking point came 
when he walked into grocery store in Eureka, Montana. A group of core 
members of the Oath Keepers and some associates were having a 
conversation about how the Holocaust was not real, and that was 
something Tatenhove could not stand for. He went home to his wife 
and kids and told them he was going to walk away at that point.510 

Elmer Stewart Rhodes publicly implored Trump to invoke the 
Insurrection Act,511 the 1807 law that allows the President to call up 
militias to put down rebellions against the United States. When 
Tatenhove was asked why Stewart Rhodes was so fixated on it, he 
answered that it gave Rhodes a sense of legitimacy. Tatenhove believed 
the mob was going to be an “armed revolution.”512 He referenced the 
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number of deaths on January 6 and the gallows set up in front of the 
Capitol. He believed it could have sparked a new civil war. Tatenhove 
believes Rhodes just wanted to wrap up the violent act in a legitimate 
way. Instead of being called a militia, Rhodes wanted to be known as a 
“Community Preparedness Team.”513 

When asked if Rhodes ever discussed committing violence against 
elected political leaders, Tatenhove described one of his first graphic 
art projects in which he designed a deck of cards with different 
politicians and judges that implied key players Rhodes wanted to take 
out. He also described the push for military training and courses in the 
community that went over explosives training. Tatenhove said, 
“[W]e’ve gotten exceedingly lucky that more bloodshed did not happen, 
because the potential has been there from the start.”514 He also fears 
the next election cycle for the violence it might bring.515 

Coda 

During the 2022 midterm elections, some GOP candidates included 
talk of violence and a possible civil war in the United States in campaign 
advertisements and speeches.516 Candidates Michael Peroutka and Dan 
Cox, both Republicans running in Maryland, warned supporters that 
the United States is headed toward war as liberals and current political 
leaders are destroying the country.517  GOP ads included explicit 
references to violence, including footage of “Antifa” and BLM protesters 
running from tear gas and candidates handling semiautomatic 
firearms.518 Other candidates promoted “RINO hunting.”519 Following 
the January 6 riot at the U.S. Capitol, chairman of the St. Croix County 
Republican Party John Kraft implored followers to “prepare for war” 
in an online post.520 

Since the investigation of Trump and the search on his Mar-a-Lago 
residence in Florida, he and his supporters have attacked and 
denounced government agencies including the FBI, the National 
Archives and Records Administration, and federal judges. On 
August 11, 2022, just two days after the FBI search of Trump’s Florida 
home, an armed man attempted to breach the FBI office in Cincinnati, 
Ohio. The suspect, Ricky Shiffer, had posted 374 messages on Trump’s 
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social network, Truth Social, within the eight days leading up to his 
attempted attack. Some of his messages included, “If you don’t hear 
from me, it is true I tried attacking the F.B.I.” and “Be ready to kill 
the enemy.”521 Shiffer tried to break into the FBI field office’s visitor-
screening area before he fled and was shot and killed by police. 
Although his account on Truth Social has been taken down, the 
trending topics online the following day were “#FBIcorruption” and 
“DefundTheFBI.”522 

While this has been the only physical violent attempt to attack a 
government agency, staff of the National Archives faced dangerous 
threats online. Extremists, like Shiffer, erupted online, outraged and 
calling for civil war.523 These ideas were ignited by Trump and his allied 
Republican lawmakers in their response to the investigation against 
him. In addition, one person in particular became a target, U.S. 
Magistrate Judge Bruce Reinhart. Judge Reinhart received numerous 
death threats for approving the search warrant of Trump’s home.524 
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